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Mini Lecture Videos

Mini lecture videos allow students to 
review content anywhere, anytime.  
Accompanying questions assess 
understanding of video content.

Solution Walkthrough Videos

Student Practice and Solutions 

Step-by-step walkthroughs of exer-
cise solutions help students under-
stand how to solve similar exercises 
in homework assignments.

Students can practice their under-
standing  of accounting topics with 
questions that are similar to select 
homework questions. Solutions for 
the select “similar” questions are 
provided.
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Financial Accounting in an Economic Context continues to be an innovative resource in the 
area of introductory fi nancial reporting and analysis. The tenth edition continues to build on the 
strengths of previous editions, while it introduces new ideas and refi nements that better commu-
nicate the book’s economic decision-making theme.

Concept Practice Exercises and Solutions

Concept Practice exercises and solutions in the body of the text prompt students to stop and re-
view key concepts.  

Chapter 2

Chapter 2 was redesigned around a scenario that derives the nature of fi nancial statements from 
the perspective of an entrepreneur trying to raise capital to start a new business. While the con-
tent of Chapter 2, which introduces the fi nancial statements in more detail, is much the same 
as in prior editions, the new scenario adds a perspective that builds a complete set of fi nancial 
statements in a uniquely effective and intuitive manner. The chapter concludes by identifying 
fi ve key questions addressed by the fi nancial statements, each of which considers a dimension 
of performance necessary for successful businesses. These questions then serve as a foundation 
throughout the text for how the fi nancial statements should be analyzed.

Chapter 5

This tenth edition was written to further develop the idea that the fi nancial statements should be 
viewed, not as individual statements, but instead as a package. They comprise an interrelated 
story about the historical performance of the fi rm and the key dimensions that in the past have 
driven that performance. This theme is very evident in Chapters 1–5 which introduce the eco-
nomic role of the fi nancial statements, how they should be interpreted, how they are prepared, 

New Features and Updates
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and how they should be analyzed. In this part of the text especially they are rarely discussed as 
independent statements; they are viewed as an integrated whole. Chapter 5 has been revised to 
emphasize this perspective and better package the fi nancial ratio analysis.

Up-to-date Real World Examples and Exercises

Many of real-world examples were updated in the textbook. Real-world company end-of-chapter 
questions were updated to include current, real-world data and values. All chapters were updated 
to address current fi nancial accounting practices.

New Accounting Standards

Effective December 2017 investments in equity securities will no longer be classifi ed as available-
for-sale on trading securities. These investments will be carried on the balance sheet at fair 
market value and price changes will be refl ected in earnings. In addition, the cost method will be 
eliminated. Chapter 8 (Investments in Equity Securities) especially and other sections of the text 
have been revised to refl ect these important changes. Also, effective January 1, 2019 capital lease 
accounting will effectively be eliminated. Chapter 11 (Long-terms Liabilities: Notes, Bonds and 
Leases) still covers capital lease accounting but also discusses this upcoming major change.

Learning Objectives and Design

Each chapter now opens with an outline that lists new learning objectives for the chapter and 
concept practice exercises associated with each learning objective. A new, four-color design 
highlights pedagogical tools and will help students navigate through each chapter more easily.
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Continuing the Approach

The tenth edition continues to develop fundamental pedagogical elements, such as ethics cases, 
Internet exercises, brief end-of-chapter real-world exercises and issues for discussion, and a set 
of interesting and challenging “quality of earnings” cases. This edition also includes an updated 
glossary. But perhaps most important, this edition has maintained and improved upon its most 
distinctive feature—the economic  decision-making approach and the balanced coverage of three 
important themes: economic factors.  measurement issues, and mechanics.

Economic Factors

Financial accounting is meaningless without an understanding of the economic environment 
in which it exists. Each chapter in the tenth edition, therefore, includes frequent references 
to actual events and companies; quotes from well-known business publications and corpo-
rate annual reports—information about industry practices, debt covenants, compensation 
arrangements, and debt and equity markets; and in-depth discussions of legal liability, ethi-
cal issues, and management’s incentives and infl uence on fi nancial reports. At the end of 
each chapter students are directed to The Walt Disney Company SEC Form 10-K to answer 
questions relevant to that  chapter. Furthermore, ratio analysis and international issues are 
introduced early and integrated throughout the text, and the coverage still refl ects a strong 
user orientation with a distinct “quality and persistence of earnings” fl avor. The important 
role of the economic environment in this text makes it more than simply a study of fi nancial 
accounting. It is a study of modern business management as seen through the fi nancial 
accounting process.

Measurement Issues

As future managers and users, students must understand the measurement issues underlying the 
fi nancial statements before they can interpret and meaningfully use them. The tenth edition devotes 
considerable attention to the conceptual and theoretical foundation of fi nancial accounting mea-
surement, with special emphasis on how the fi nancial statements provide useful measures of the 
key areas of business performance. Cash and accrual statements are treated as equally important, 
with the statement of cash fl ows being covered from the very beginning. Chapter 3 provides a 
framework for accounting measurement that is used throughout the remainder of the text.

Mechanics

Using fi nancial statements without understanding the underlying mechanics is like trying to 
interpret a foreign language without knowing the vocabulary. Consequently, the tenth edition 
provides a strong mechanical foundation and stresses mechanics early and throughout the text. 
Journal entries and T-accounts play an important role, but they are never treated as a goal. Rather, 
they are characterized as an effi cient way to communicate how economic events are refl ected on 
the fi nancial statements. A special coding is used throughout the text to link the form of each 
entry to the basic accounting equation and fi nancial statements. Thorough mechanical coverage 
is especially important in a text that takes a user orientation because effective users must be able 
to infer transactions from the fi nancial statements. This mechanical skill, referred to as reverse 
T-account analysis, is covered several times in the text, and many exercises and problems are 
designed to test it.

Hallmark Approach and Features
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Decision-Making Perspective   

This text presents fi nancial accounting in a way that helps managers make decisions—a  decision-
making perspective. At a fundamental level, managers make two kinds of decisions: attracting capital 
and investing capital. Simply put, managers must attract capital from debt and equity investors and 
then invest it in operations, producing assets, and investment securities. Successful management is 
defi ned by generating a return from these investments that exceeds the cost of capital. As depicted in 
Figure P–l, these two kinds of decisions can be matched with the three themes discussed above 
(mechanics, measurement issues, and economic factors) to produce six basic questions that must be 
answered by managers who use fi nancial accounting information when making decisions.

FIGURE P–1

 Management Decisions

 Attract Capital Invest Capital

Mechanics 1 4
 How do the transactions affect  How are fi nancial ratios computed,
 the fi nancial statements? and how can transactions be
  inferred from the fi nancial
  statements?

Measurement 2 5
Theory How do these fi nancial statement How do the fi nancial statements
 effects infl uence outside perceptions and ratios indicate a company’s
 of the company’s performance? performance?

Economics 3 6
 How do these fi nancial statement What action should be taken 
 effects infl uence decisions of (e.g., invest, extend credit,
 outsiders as well as debt and adjust loan terms)?
 compensation contracts? 

In their effort to attract capital, managers must address three questions when considering 
whether to enter into certain transactions: How do the transactions affect the fi nancial statements? 
(cell 1); how do these fi nancial statement effects infl uence outside perceptions of the company’s 
performance? (cell 2); and how do these fi nancial statement effects infl uence the decisions of out-
siders as well as debt and compensation contracts? (cell 3). These questions must be answered if 
management is to understand the economic consequences of the transactions under consideration.

In their effort to invest capital, managers must address three different questions: How are 
fi nancial ratios computed, and how can transactions be inferred from the fi nancial statements? 
(cell 4); how do the fi nancial statements and ratios indicate a company’s performance? (cell 5); 
and what action should be taken (e.g., invest, extend credit, adjust loan terms)? (cell 6). These 
questions must be answered if management is to understand how to use fi nancial accounting 
information properly.

The decision-making perspective simply means that all six questions are addressed in this 
text. These are the areas where management decision making intersects with fi nancial accounting 
information, or, in other words, this is what managers need to know about fi nancial reporting and 
analysis. It is this perspective that makes Financial Accounting in an Economic Context different 
from all other texts.

Successful Features Retained from Previous Editions

With few exceptions, the text retains the main features of previous editions. Below is a brief 
description of the most important ones.
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Globalization of Business and Financial Reporting Standards While the tenth edition is still 
based on U.S. GAAP, IFRS standards and concepts are woven throughout the entire text. It may 
be unlikely that the United States will require IFRS standards, but IFRS standards are now 
accepted on U.S. exchanges when submitted by non-U.S. fi rms. Also highlighted in the tenth 
edition are important differences in business practices and cultures across national borders. 
Indeed, we live in a global business world, and the tenth edition refl ects what future business 
leaders need to know about accounting to operate effectively within it.

Statement of Cash Flows The tenth edition discusses the statement of cash fl ows from the very 
fi rst chapter and in Chapter 4 demonstrates how to prepare a statement of cash fl ows from the 
activity in the cash T-account. Mechanical differences between accruals and cash fl ows are intro-
duced and illustrated in Appendix 4A, which also includes coverage of reverse T-account analysis 
as well as the preparation of a relatively simple statement of cash fl ows from two balance sheets 
and an income statement. Chapters 6 through 12 contain frequent boxed-in items that highlight 
the accrual to cash adjustments in the operating section of the statement of cash fl ows of well-
known companies, which serves as a periodic reminder to students—regardless of the account 
being studied—of the reconciliation between net income and net cash provided by operating 
activities. Chapter 14 contains an illustration of how to prepare a more complicated statement of 
cash fl ows from two balance sheets and an income statement.

Fair Market Value Accounting Fair market value accounting is woven throughout the tenth edition. 
While one might still describe the current accounting model as based on historical cost, heavy reli-
ance on the lower-of-cost-or-market concept in the valuation of assets, accounting for trading and 
available-for-sale securities, the reliance on present value concepts in asset and liability valuation, 
and relatively recently, the U.S. adoption of the fair value option all point toward a measurement 
system that is gradually moving toward fair valuation—both for U.S. GAAP and IFRS. Savvy busi-
ness students should know something about how fair market values are refl ected in the fi nancial 
statements.

Complete Financial Statement Analysis Package A strength of this text is its fi nancial statement 
analysis perspective and the tenth edition continues in this tradition. The perspective is  introduced 
in Chapter 1, fundamentally developed in Chapter 2 in which fi ve key questions for  analysis are 
derived, and thoroughly covered in Chapter 5, which is devoted specifi cally to fi nancial statement 
analysis. Appendix 5A covers shareholder value creation and the ROE model as well as analyses 
of cash fl ow patterns, business segments, and projected fi nancial statements. This theme is con-
tinued in Chapters 6–13, all of which end with a special section that discusses ROE analyses in 
terms of the chapter topic and directs students to a website where they can analyze real company 
data used as input in a prepopulated ROE spreadsheet model.

Flexible Modules Chapter 3 (The Measurement Fundamentals of Financial Accounting), 
 Chapter 4 (The Mechanics of Financial Accounting), and Chapter 5 (Using Financial Statement 
Information) have been written so that they can be covered in any order. This modular structure 
adds an important dimension of fl exibility to the text.

Real-World Review Throughout each chapter, real-world applications of chapter topics are 
highlighted and boxed. In the tenth edition, these boxed items also include real-world insights on 
general international issues, IFRS, and the reconciliation of net income with net cash from oper-
ations on the statement of cash fl ows.

sa
m

ple



Ethics Vignettes Each chapter closes with a short business scenario that introduces an ethical 
issue related to the material covered in the chapter. Several questions that follow each scenario 
are designed to encourage meaningful class discussion.

Industry Data Many of the chapters contain tables that compare accounting practices and show 
students the importance of accounting numbers and ratios across different industries and well-
known companies. Updated in the tenth edition, these tables illustrate that the fi nancial account-
ing issues faced by retailers, manufacturers, service enterprises, and fi nancial institutions are 
quite different. A brief explanation of the operations of companies in different industries and how 
these operations give rise to different fi nancial accounting concerns follows each table.

The Walt Disney Company SEC Form 10-K Disney is referenced periodically throughout the text 
and each chapter contains an end-of-chapter case that requires students to access the Disney 
report via the Internet and relate the fi nancial statements to accounting issues covered in the 
chapter.
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An Overview of Financial 

Accounting

PART 

1

Chipotle Mexican Grill, the fast-growing, casual restaurant chain, has been a popular stock 
investment ever since its 2006 initial public stock offering. In October 2015, however, the com-
pany released a report, indicating earnings of $4.59 per share of outstanding stock, which was 
below the $4.63 amount expected by the analysts. The response of the stock market was swift, 
with Chipotle share prices dropping by over 7 percent. The company reported new store openings 
and strong 12.2 percent revenue growth, but higher labor and marketing expenses cut into profi t 
growth.

What are revenues and earnings? How do they relate to stock prices? What role do analysts 
and their expectations play? Would an investment in Chipotle be a wise move? Answering such 
questions begins with an understanding of the business environment, investment decisions, and 
fi nancial statements—topics addressed in Part 1 of this textbook.

C H A P T E R  1

Financial Accounting and Its Economic Context

C H A P T E R  2

The Financial Statementssa
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Financial Accounting and Its 

Economic Context
CHAPTER 1

LEARNING OBJECTIVE PRACTICE

1.  Discuss the role of fi nancial reports 
in investment decisions and the 
difference between the economic 
consequence and user perspectives.

• Profi t-seeking entities
• Users of fi nancial statements
• User decisions
• Consequences of user decisions

1.  User perspective vs. economic 
consequence perspective

2.  Explain the difference between 
consumption and investment and why 
investors demand documentation and 
independent audits.

• Spending decisions
•  Documentation of past fi nancial 

performance and current condition
• Differing incentives

2a. Consumption vs. investment choices

2b. Information necessary for investing

3.  Describe the standard audit report, 
management letter, four fi nancial 
statements, and related footnotes.

• Audit report
• Management letter
• Financial statements
• Footnotes

3.  Financial decision-making information 
package

4.  Differentiate debt from equity and the 
concepts of solvency and earning 
power.

• Debt investment
• Equity investment
• Solvency
• Earning power

4a. Debt vs. equity investments

4b. Solvency vs. earning power

5.  List the major elements of the 
environment in which fi nancial reports 
are prepared and used and describe 
how these elements encourage 
effective corporate governance.

• Providers of capital
• Companies
• Debt and compensation contracts
• Auditors
• Board of directors
• Legal liability
• Professional reputation and ethics

5. Effective corporate governance

6.  Summarize the current status of 
accounting standard setting—both in 
the United States and internationally.

•  Securities and Exchange Commission 
(SEC)

•  U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (U.S. GAAP)

•  International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS)

6. U.S. GAAP vs. IFRS

Like schoolchildren who have practiced fi re drills dozens of times, investors know exactly what 
to do when news leaks out that a company’s fi nancial records may not be in order. First, sell the 
stock; then, look around to see who else might get sucked up into the budding scandal and drop 
them like a hot potato. Investors followed their “fi re drill” to the letter when they learned that the 
fi nancial records of New Century, one of the nation’s leading lenders of high-risk loans, were 
misstated. Its stock price plummeted, it was forced to declare bankruptcy, and one of the worst 
credit crises in U.S. history was underway.
 The situation described above is all too common. Billions of dollars are lost each year by inves-
tors who base their investment decisions on misleading reported numbers. This text, beginning with 

1

Discuss the role of 
fi nancial reports in 
investment decisions 
and the difference 
between the 
economic 
consequence and 
user perspectives.

LEARNING OBJECTIVE
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Financial Reporting and Investment Decisions 3 

this fi rst chapter, explains how that could happen. It also describes how you can avoid the fate of those 
investors who, believing the profi ts reported by New Century, chose to invest their hard-earned money 
and lost much of it. The fi rst step involves understanding the fi nancial accounting process.

Financial Reporting and Investment Decisions

Financial reporting plays an important role in investment decisions.

1. Profi t-seeking companies—Managers of profi t-seeking companies prepare reports 
containing fi nancial information for the owners of these companies. In addition to other 
information, these reports contain four fi nancial statements: the balance sheet, the income 
statement, the statement of shareholders’ equity, and the statement of cash fl ows.

2. Owners and other interested parties (users)—Although prepared primarily for the owners, 
these fi nancial reports are often available to the public and are read by other interested 
parties who use them to assess the fi nancial condition and performance of the company as 
well as the performance of its managers. Such interested parties, called users in this text, 
include potential investors, bankers, government agencies, and the company’s employees, 
customers, and suppliers.

3. User decisions—Users obtain information from the fi nancial reports that helps assess the 
company’s past performance, predict its future performance, and control the activities of 
its managers. Thus fi nancial reports help users to make better decisions. Investors, for 
example, use fi nancial reports to choose companies in which to invest their funds; bankers 
use them to decide where to loan their funds and what interest rates to charge.

4. Effects of user decisions—User decisions affect the fi nancial condition and performance of 
the company and the economic well-being of its managers. For example, a banker may use 
the information contained in a fi nancial report to decide not to loan a certain company 
much-needed funds. Such a decision may cause the company to struggle and may cost 
managers their jobs and owners their investments.

 Figure 1–1 illustrates how fi nancial reporting relates to investment decisions. Note its 
dynamic nature: The fi nancial information provided by managers of a profi t-seeking company is 
used by interested parties to make decisions that, in turn, affect a company’s fi nancial condition 

Financial
reports

Predictions of
future performance
and control

3. Investment and
 credit decisions
 are made based
 on financial
 reports and
 other data.

2. Users assess
 the financial
 condition and
 performance of
 the company
 and its managers.

1. Managers of
 profit-seeking
 companies
 prepare
 financial reports.

4. User decisions affect the financial
 condition and performance of the
 company and the economic well-being
 of the company's managers.

FIGURE 1–1  Financial reporting and investment decisions
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4  CHAPTER 1 Financial Accounting and Its Economic Context

and the economic well-being of its managers. Managers need to understand the process depicted 
in Figure 1–1 from two perspectives:

1. Economic consequences

2. User orientation

Economic Consequences

To run a company effectively, management must be able to attract capital (funds) from outsiders 
who use fi nancial statements to evaluate the company’s performance and fi nancial health. Man-
agers apply for loans from bankers, for example, who use the fi nancial statements to determine 
whether to grant the loan and, if so, what interest rate to charge. Because using fi nancial state-
ments by outsiders leads to economic consequences for managers and the companies they oper-
ate (e.g., higher interest rates), it is important that they know how economic events (e.g., business 
decisions) affect the fi nancial statements. Consider a case where management is deciding to 
either purchase or rent equipment. When making such a decision, an astute manager would con-
sider how the choice affects the fi nancial statements because it could infl uence the way in which 
the company is viewed by outsiders. Considering and understanding how such events affect the 
fi nancial statements are referred to in this text as an economic consequence perspective.

User Orientation

Managers are also users of fi nancial statements, such as when they are called upon to assess the 
performance and fi nancial health of other companies. Questions such as the following are often 
answered by analyzing fi nancial statements provided by those companies.

• Should we purchase a company?

• Should we use a company as a supplier?

• Should we extend credit or loan funds to a company?

Accordingly, managers also need to know how to read, evaluate, and analyze fi nancial state-
ments. We call this perspective a user orientation.
 The next section develops a scenario designed to highlight issues particularly important to 
users of fi nancial statements. That same scenario serves as the basis for the next section, which 
covers the economic environment in which fi nancial statements are prepared and used. Appendix 
1A introduces managerial, tax, and not-for-profi t accounting.

CONCEPT PRACTICE FOR LEARNING OBJECTIVE

Choose the best response to the following questions.
1. Which of the following groups are not likely to be users of fi nancial statements prepared by 

a company?
a. Company owners
b. Potential investors in the company
c. Banks
d. Company suppliers and customers
e. Company managers
 f. All of the above are users of fi nancial statements.

2. A bank requires Blake Company to provide fi nancial statements for the past fi ve years as it 
considers loaning money to Blake. Blake’s managers prepare the fi nancial statements and 
want them to look as good as possible so that the bank will grant the loan and charge a low 
interest rate.

1
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The Demand for Financial Information: A User’s Orientation 5 

The Demand for Financial Information: A User’s Orientation

Suppose that you recently learned that a long-lost relative died and left you a large sum of money. 
You know little about fi nancial matters, so you consult Mary Jordan, a fi nancial advisor, to help 
you decide what to do with the funds. She tells you that you have two choices: You can consume 
it or you can invest it.

Consumption and Investment

In consuming your new fortune, you would spend the money on goods and services, such as a trip 
around the world, expensive meals, a lavish wardrobe, or any other expenditures that bring about 
immediate gratifi cation. Consumption expenditures, by defi nition, are enjoyed immediately and 
have no future value.
 In investing the fortune, you would spend the money on items that provide little in the way 
of immediate gratifi cation. Rather, they generate returns of additional money at later dates. In 
essence, investments trade current consumption for more consumption at a later date. Examples 
include investing in stocks and bonds, real estate, rare art objects, or simply placing the money in 
the bank.

Where to Invest?

You decide to invest the money, and with a little direction from Mary, you begin to explore invest-
ment alternatives. You fi nd that investments come in a number of different forms, however, and 
you quickly become overwhelmed, confused, and frustrated. Just as you are about to give up your 
search and put all your money in the bank, a man by the name of Martin Wagner knocks at your 
door. Through a mutual friend, Martin has heard of your recent windfall and states that he has an 
interesting offer for you.
 Martin claims that he manages a very successful research company, called Microline, 
owned by a group of European investors. In its short history, the company has earned a reputation 
for innovation in software development. As Martin describes it, Microline’s research staff is on 
the verge of designing a virtual reality gaming system that will revolutionize the industry in the 
future.

2

Explain the difference 
between consumption 
and investment and 
why investors demand 
documentation and 
independent audits.

LEARNING OBJECTIVE

SOLUTION

1. f. Any party interested in the past fi nancial performance and condition of a company 
would be considered a potential user of fi nancial statements, which includes a company’s 
owners, potential investors, managers, creditors, customers, suppliers, employees, gov-
ernment agencies, and other groups.

2. b. The bank wants to use the fi nancial statements to assess the past fi nancial perfor-
mance and current condition of Blake to guide its credit-granting decision. Blake’s man-
agers are using the fi nancial statements to attract funds and they know that if the fi nancial 
statements refl ect poorly on the company the bank may not grant the loan.

 a. The bank is viewing the fi nancial statements from an economic consequence perspec-
tive, while Blake’s managers are viewing the fi nancial statements from a user perspective.

b. The bank is viewing the fi nancial statements from a user perspective, while Blake’s man-
agers are viewing the fi nancial statements from an economic consequence perspective.

c. Both parties are viewing the fi nancial statements from a user perspective.
d. Both parties are viewing the fi nancial statements from an economic consequence 

perspective.
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6  CHAPTER 1 Financial Accounting and Its Economic Context

 Martin has come to you for capital—$1 million, to be exact. The company’s research and 
development efforts have run short of funds, and money is still needed to complete the design. 
With your money, Martin asserts that the system can be completed and sold, producing millions 
of dollars of income, some of which will provide you with a handsome return on your investment. 
Without your capital, Martin believes that the project may have to be abandoned.

The Demand for Documentation

You have listened to Martin’s story and now must decide what to do. Your fi rst thought is that you 
simply cannot accept his word without some documented evidence. How do you really know that 
he has successfully managed this business for the past two years and that $1 million will enable 
the company to turn this design into a fortune in the future?
 After careful consideration, you decide that you need to see some proof before making a 
fi nal decision. You ask for specifi c documents to show that Microline has been run successfully 
for the past two years, is currently in reasonably good fi nancial condition, and has the potential 
to generate income of the magnitude Martin suggests. He agrees to provide you with such docu-
mentation because he knows that if he does not, you will invest your money elsewhere, and both 
he and Microline will suffer.
 Several days later, Martin returns with a set of fi nancial statements prepared by Microline’s 
accountants. He explains the meanings of the numbers on the statements and further claims that 
the records at his offi ce can be used to verify them. Taken at face value, the fi gures look promising, 
but somehow Martin’s explanation is not convincing. It occurs to you that Martin might have fab-
ricated or at least infl uenced the fi gures. After all, Microline needs money, and who would blame 
Martin for showing you only the fi gures that make Microline’s situation look attractive to a poten-
tial investor?

The Demand for an Independent Audit

You require that Martin go one step further. He must return again with fi nancial statements that 
have been checked and verifi ed by an independent outsider who is an expert in such matters. You 
insist that the person not be employed by Microline or have any interest whatsoever in the com-
pany and have the appropriate credentials to perform such a task. In essence, you demand that 
Martin hire a certifi ed public accountant (CPA) to verify Microline’s fi nancial statements. You 
require, in other words, that Microline subject itself to an independent audit. Martin agrees 
because, once again, if he does not, you will take your money and invest it elsewhere. At the same 
time, Martin is somewhat troubled. He knows that hiring and working with a CPA can be very 
costly and time-consuming.

Martin and the CPA: Different Incentives

Time passes and you become concerned that Martin has taken too long to return with the fi nancial 
statements. You have thought of several questions since Martin’s last visit and decide to call on him in 
person. You arrive at Microline’s offi ce and are seated by Martin’s secretary. While you are waiting, 
you hear Martin’s voice through the partly open door to his offi ce. He seems to be discussing Micro-
line’s fi nancial statements with the CPA. While you cannot understand exactly what is being said, it is 
clear that they are not in complete agreement and that they are both strong in their convictions.
 You wonder why Martin and the CPA might view the fi nancial statements from different 
perspectives and speculate that perhaps the CPA recommended presenting Microline’s fi nan-
cial condition in a way that was unsatisfactory to Martin. You reason that Martin should prob-
ably follow the CPA’s recommendation because, after all, the CPA is the expert in fi nancial 
reporting. You realize, however, that Martin wants the statements to be as attractive as possible 
and that he may have some infl uence over the CPA. Indeed, Martin did hire the CPA and does 
pay the CPA’s fee.
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The Auditor’s Report, the Management Letter, and 
the Financial Statements

Martin arrives at your home with seven offi cial-looking documents: (1) an auditor’s report, a 
short letter written by the auditor that describes the activities of the audit and comments on the 
fi nancial position and operations of Microline; (2) a management letter, signed by Martin, 
which accepts responsibility for the fi gures on the statements; (3) a balance sheet; (4) an 
income statement; (5) a statement of shareholders’ equity; (6) a statement of cash fl ows; and 
(7) a comprehensive set of footnotes, which more fully explains certain items on the four state-
ments listed above. You briefl y review the documents and tell Martin that you will have a deci-
sion for him soon.

The Auditor’s Report

You begin your examination by reviewing the auditor’s report, from which you hope to learn how 
credible the fi nancial statements actually are (see Figure 1–2).

3

Describe the standard 
audit report, 
management letter, 
four fi nancial 
statements, and 
related footnotes.

LEARNING OBJECTIVE

CONCEPT PRACTICE FOR LEARNING OBJECTIVE

Choose the best response to the following questions.
2a. Which of the following purchases would be considered consumption instead of investment?

a. Purchasing a savings bond issued by the U.S. government.
b. Purchasing a ticket for a Mediterranean cruise.
c. Purchasing an ownership interest in a new start-up company.
d. Purchasing a rare coin in hopes that its value would increase.

2b.  Suppose you are considering investing in a company (Solar Inc.) that manufactures an im-
portant part used in solar power systems. Which of the following information items should 
infl uence you the most in deciding whether or not to invest?
a. A statement by Solar’s management that it believes that the company has performed well.
b. A set of fi nancial statements prepared by Solar’s management and reviewed closely by 

Solar’s chief fi nancial offi cer.
c. A set of fi nancial statements prepared by Solar’s management audited by an indepen-

dent outside fi nancial expert.
d. Statements by Solar’s suppliers that Solar has paid its bills on time.

2

SOLUTION

2a.  b. Investments are made anticipating a fi nancial return. A Mediterranean cruise may be 
very enjoyable and well worth the cost, but the money spent on it will be gone forever. 
In all three of the other cases a fi nancial return is expected.

2b.  c. Financial statements provide a package that would allow you to reasonably assess 
Solar Inc.’s past fi nancial performance and current fi nancial condition. Because Solar’s 
management, who prepares its fi nancial statements, is biased, it is normally best to 
have the statements reviewed by an independent outside expert. The other alternatives 
either address only part of fi nancial performance or are not independent.

 Before long, the CPA leaves and Martin invites you into his offi ce. During your short discus-
sion, you mention nothing of what you think you have heard. Martin answers your questions confi -
dently and assures you that the statements will be ready within the week. Satisfi ed, you return home.
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 Overall, you are reassured by the auditor’s report. It indicates that the auditor reviewed 
Microline’s records thoroughly and concluded that the statements (1) were prepared in confor-
mity with generally accepted accounting principles, (2) present fairly Microline’s fi nancial con-
dition and operations, and (3) resulted from an effective internal control system. You suspect 
that the auditor could have rendered a much less favorable report, such as that the statements 
were not prepared in conformance with generally accepted accounting principles, or that no 
opinion could be reached because Microline’s accounting system and internal controls were so 
poorly designed, or that Microline was in danger of failure. You also realize, however, that you 
know very little about internal control systems, auditing standards, and generally accepted 
accounting principles, and that Microline’s management made a number of signifi cant estimates 
when preparing the statements. This discovery is somewhat troubling because, even with the 
audit, it seems that Microline’s management may have had some subjective infl uence on the 
fi nancial statements.

The Management Letter

You next read the management letter, hoping to learn more about how the fi nancial statements 
were prepared and audited (see Figure 1–3).

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF MICROLINE:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of Microline as of December 31, 2016 
and 2015, and the related statements of income, shareholders’ equity, and cash fl ows for 
the years then ended. We have also audited management’s assessment of the effectiveness 
of its internal control over fi nancial reporting. These fi nancial statements and the effec-
tiveness of the internal controls are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements and management’s 
assessment of the internal controls based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fi nancial statements are free of 
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence support-
ing the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements. An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and signifi cant estimates made by manage-
ment, as well as evaluating the overall fi nancial statement presentation. Our audit of 
internal control over fi nancial reporting included obtaining an understanding of inter-
nal control over fi nancial reporting and testing and evaluating the design and operating 
effectiveness of the internal controls. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the fi nancial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the fi nancial position of Microline as of December 31, 2016, and 2015, and the 
results of its operations and its cash fl ows for the years then ended, in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion management maintained 
effective internal control over fi nancial reporting as of December 31, 2016.

Arth ur Price

Arthur Price, Certifi ed Public Accountant
March 12, 2017FIGURE 1–2 The 
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 Once again, you are both reassured and troubled. It is comforting to know that Microline’s 
management is accepting responsibility for the integrity of the statements, which have been pre-
pared in conformance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that the company has 
an internal control system that safeguards the assets and reasonably ensures that transactions 
are properly recorded and reported. It is also nice to know that Microline’s policies prescribe that its 
employees maintain high ethical standards. However, you still do not understand generally accepted 
accounting principles, are still concerned that the statements refl ect management’s estimates and 
judgments, and have very little idea about the function of Microline’s board of directors and audit 
committee.

The Financial Statements

You briefl y review the four fi nancial statements (see Figure 1–4) and note fi rst that dollar amounts 
are listed for both 2016 and 2015. This discovery is somewhat discouraging because only infor-
mation about the past is included on the statements and is subject to the auditor’s report and 
management letter. Nothing about Microline’s future prospects is included in the fi nancial state-
ments—but the future is what interests you most. Whether Microline is able to provide an accept-
able return on your $1 million investment depends primarily on what happens in the future. The 
past is often a poor indicator of the future.
 You also observe that each statement emphasizes a different aspect of Microline’s fi nancial 
condition and performance. The balance sheet, for example, lists the company’s assets, liabilities, 
and shareholders’ equity. On the income statement, expenses are subtracted from revenues to 
produce a number called net income. The statement of shareholders’ equity includes (1) the 
beginning and ending common stock and retained earnings balance, which can be found on the 

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES:

Management is responsible for the preparation and integrity of the fi nancial statements 
and the fi nancial comments appearing in this fi nancial report. The fi nancial statements 
were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and include 
certain amounts based on management’s best estimates and judgments. Other fi nancial 
information presented in this fi nancial report is consistent with the fi nancial statements.

The Company maintains a system of internal controls designed to provide reasonable 
assurance that the assets are safeguarded and that transactions are executed as autho-
rized and are recorded and reported properly. The system of controls is based upon writ-
ten policies and procedures, appropriate division of responsibility and authority, careful 
selection and training of personnel, and a comprehensive internal audit program. The 
Company’s policies and procedures prescribe that the Company and all employees are to 
maintain the highest ethical standards and that its business practices are to be conducted 
in a manner that is above reproach.

Arthur Price, an independent certifi ed public accountant, has examined the Company’s 
fi nancial statements, and the audit report is presented herein. The Board of Directors has 
an Audit Committee composed entirely of outside directors. Arthur Price has direct access 
to the Audit Committee and meets with the committee to discuss accounting, auditing, and 
fi nancial reporting matters.

Martin Wagner

Martin Wagner, Chief Executive Offi cer
March 12, 2017 FIGURE 1–3 
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10  CHAPTER 1 Financial Accounting and Its Economic Context

2015 and 2016 balance sheets; (2) net income, which is the bottom line on the income statement; 
and (3) dividends. The statement of cash fl ows includes the beginning and ending balance of 
cash, which can be found on the 2015 and 2016 balance sheets, and net cash fl ows from operat-
ing, investing, and fi nancing activities. It becomes clear quite quickly that you do not understand 
these terms and that you know very little about the information conveyed by these statements 
and, therefore, cannot begin to assess whether Microline would be a good company in which to 
invest.

Microline 

Financial Statements 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015

2016 2015

BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS

Cash $   100,000 $     60,000

Accounts receivable 80,000 90,000

Equipment 330,000 300,000

Land 500,000 500,000

Total assets $1,010,000 $   950,000

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Short-term payables $     50,000 $     30,000

Long-term debt 420,000 450,000

Common stock 400,000 400,000

Retained earnings 140,000 70,000

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $1,010,000 $   950,000

INCOME STATEMENT

Sales and service revenue $1,650,000 $1,500,000

Operating expenses 1,450,000 1,350,000

Net income $   200,000 $   150,000

STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Beginning balance in common stock and  retained 
earnings $   470,000 $   400,000

Plus: Net income 200,000 150,000

Less: Dividends 130,000 80,000

Ending balance in common stock and 
retained earnings

$   540,000 $   470,000

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Net cash fl ow from operating activities $   250,000 $   120,000

Net cash fl ow from investing activities (50,000) (340,000)

Net cash fl ow from fi nancing activities (160,000) 280,000

Net increase (decrease) in cash $     40,000 $     60,000

Beginning cash balance 60,000 0

Ending cash balance $   100,000 $     60,000
FIGURE 1–4 Financial 

statements for Microline
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The Footnotes

At this point you decide to examine the footnotes, hoping that they will clear up some of your 
uncertainty about the fi nancial statements (Figure 1–5). They state that many of the numbers on 
the statements are the result of assumptions and estimates made by Microline’s management, 
which does not surprise you because both the audit report and the management letter made simi-
lar statements. It is also clear from the footnotes that Microline was able to choose from a number 
of different acceptable accounting methods. While you know little about generally accepted 
accounting principles, you confi dently conclude that they do not ensure exact and unbiased state-
ments. Alternative accounting methods, as well as assumptions and estimates by Microline’s 
management, are very evident.

Cash. Cash consists of cash on hand and cash in a bank checking account.

Accounts Receivable. The balance in accounts receivable has been adjusted for an estimate 
of future uncollectibles.

Equipment. Equipment is carried at cost and includes expenditures for new additions and 
those that substantially increase its useful life. The cost of the equipment is depreciated 
using the straight-line method over an estimated useful life of ten years.

Land. Land is carried at cost.

Short-Term Payables. Short-term payables consist of wages payable, short-term borrow-
ings, interest payable, taxes payable, and an estimate of future warranty costs.

Long-Term Debt. Long-term debt consists primarily of notes that must be paid back after 
one year.

Common Stock. Common stock represents the contributions of the company’s shareholders.

Revenue Recognition. Revenues from sales are refl ected in the income statement when 
products are shipped. Revenues from services are estimated in proportion to the comple-
tion of the service.

Expenses. Expenses include selling and administrative expenses and estimates of uncol-
lectible receivables and depreciation on the equipment. FIGURE 1–5 Notes to 

the fi nancial statements

Descriptions of Financial Statements

After your initial examination, you decide that Microline may be a reasonable investment, but 
your lack of knowledge renders you incapable of making a confi dent choice. You decide to return 
to Mary Jordan, your fi nancial advisor, for help. Perhaps she can explain the nature of the fi nan-
cial statements and improve your understanding of the decision that faces you. Mary begins by 
defi ning some of the fundamental terms used on the fi nancial statements.1

 The balance sheet, which lists Microline’s assets, liabilities, and shareholders’ equity, is a 
statement of the company’s fi nancial position as of a certain date. Assets, representing items that 
will bring future economic benefi t to Microline, include the cash balance, the dollar amounts due 
from Microline’s customers (accounts receivable), and the original cost of the equipment and 
land purchased by the company. Liabilities, which represent current obligations, consist of the 

1 This section of the text provides basic defi nitions for important terms. These defi nitions are expanded upon in later chapters, 
and a complete glossary is provided at the end of the text.
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12  CHAPTER 1 Financial Accounting and Its Economic Context

amounts currently owed by Microline to its creditors. Satisfying these liabilities will generally 
require cash payments in the future. Common stock and retained earnings comprise the share-
holders’ equity section. Common stock represents the initial investments by Microline’s own-
ers, and retained earnings is a measure of Microline’s past profi ts that have been retained (rein-
vested) in the business. Without the balance sheet, investors would have diffi culty assessing the 
current fi nancial condition of the company.
 The income statement is divided into two parts: sales and service revenues, a measure of 
the assets generated from the products and services sold, and operating expenses, a measure of 
the asset outfl ows (costs) associated with selling these products and services. The difference 
between these two amounts is a number called net income (profi t or earnings), which mea-
sures the success of Microline’s operations over a particular period of time. Without the income 
statement, investors would be unable to determine the company’s performance during the 
period.
 The statement of shareholders’ equity describes the changes in the shareholders’ equity 
items (common stock and retained earnings) from one year to the next: There was no change in 
common stock for Microline, so in this case the statement only includes the increases and 
decreases to retained earnings, which is a measure of Microline’s past profi ts. The net income, 
profi t, or earnings amount from the income statement is fi rst added to the beginning balance of 
retained earnings. Dividends, the assets paid to Microline’s owners as a return for their initial 
investment, are then subtracted from this amount to compute ending retained earnings. The end-
ing retained earnings amount appears on the balance sheet and becomes the beginning balance of 
the following period. The change in retained earnings indicates in any given year how dividends 
compare to profi t.
 The statement of cash fl ows summarizes the increases and decreases in cash over a period 
of time. The beginning cash balance is adjusted for the net cash fl ows (cash infl ows less cash 
outfl ows) associated with Microline’s operating, investing, and fi nancing activities. Operating 
activities are associated with the actual products and services provided by Microline for its cus-
tomers. Investing activities include the purchase and sale of assets, such as equipment and land. 
Financing activities refers to the cash collections and payments related to Microline’s capital 
sources. Examples include cash borrowings and loan payments as well as collections from own-
ers’ contributions and the payment of dividends. Without the statement of cash fl ows, investors 
would have diffi culty assessing the company’s cash management strategies.

CONCEPT PRACTICE FOR LEARNING OBJECTIVE

Match the following information items with the appropriate description.

Information Item Description

• Audit report •  Provides additional useful detail about the dollar values on the balance 
sheet, income statement, statement of cash fl ows, and the statement 
of shareholders’ equity

• Management letter •  Provides information in a set of reports about the past performance 
and current fi nancial condition of a company

• Financial statements •  Renders an opinion on a company’s reporting practices by a fi nancial 
expert with no economic ties to the company

• Footnotes •  States that the fi nancial statements were prepared by the company’s 
managers who are responsible for their content

3
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Analysis of Financial Statements

After defi ning the terms on the fi nancial statements, Mary notes that Microline appears to be in 
reasonably strong fi nancial shape. She focuses fi rst on the statement of cash fl ows, pointing out 
that the company’s cash position has been increasing and that operating activities have contrib-
uted $120,000 and $250,000 in cash in the last two years. She also notes that Microline has 
invested heavily in new assets since its inception and that $160,000 was paid during 2016 for 
dividends and to reduce outstanding debts. In short, Microline has demonstrated the ability to 
generate cash. Mary believes this is very important, because in order to remain solvent, the com-
pany must be able to generate enough cash to meet its debts as they come due. She comments that 
solvency is a requirement for fi nancial health.
 Mary then moves to the income statement and statement of shareholders’ equity, noting that 
Microline has shown profi ts of $150,000 and $200,000 over the past two years and, at the same 
time, has paid signifi cant dividends to its owners, specifi cally $80,000 in 2015 and $130,000 in 
2016. These numbers show that Microline has demonstrated earning power, the ability to grow and 
provide a substantial return to its owners. Mary also notes that the balance sheets indicate Micro-
line’s assets have increased during the past year from $950,000 to $1,010,000, while its liabilities 
(payables) have decreased from $480,000 to $470,000. She indicates that such a trend is promising.
 To further support Microline’s fi nancial strength, Mary computes a few ratios by using the 
dollar values on the income statement and balance sheet. She points out that net income as a per-
centage of revenues increased from 10 percent ($150,000/ $1,500,000) in 2015 to over 12 percent 
($200,000/$1,650,000) in 2016. Total payables as a percent of total assets decreased from over 
50 percent ($480,000/$950,000) in 2015 to less than 47 percent ($470,000/$1,010,000) in 2016. Div-
idends as a percent of net income increased substantially over the two-year period—to 65 percent. 
After consulting some statistics covering the industry in which Microline is a member, Mary reports 
that Microline’s fi nancial ratios, in general, are stronger than those of many other similar fi rms.

4

Differentiate debt 
from equity and the 
concepts of solvency 
and earning power.

LEARNING OBJECTIVE

SOLUTION

Information Item Description

• Audit report •  Renders an opinion on a company’s reporting practices by a 
fi nancial expert with no economic ties to the company

• Management letter •  States that the fi nancial statements were prepared by the 
company’s managers who are responsible for their content.

• Financial statements •  Provides information in a set of reports about the past performance 
and current fi nancial condition of a company

• Footnotes •  Provides additional useful detail about the dollar values on the 
balance sheet, income statement, statement of cash fl ows, and the 
statement of shareholders’ equity

?
In its 2014 annual report, Bed Bath & Beyond, a leading housewares retailer, reported 
sales of $11.9 billion; net income of $957 million; total assets and total liabilities of 
$6.8 billion and $4.0 billion, respectively; and net cash fl ows from operating activities 
of $1.2 billion. On which of the fi nancial statements were each of these values reported, 

and what values were reported for each of the following items: total expenses, shareholders’ 
equity, and the net income to sales ratio?
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14  CHAPTER 1 Financial Accounting and Its Economic Context

Which Form of Investment: Debt or Equity?

The defi nitions and analysis provided by Mary are encouraging, and you decide that Microline is 
a good investment. However, Mary states that now you must decide which form your investment 
should take. Should it be in the form of a loan, or should you purchase ownership (equity) in 
Microline? She explains that the risks you face and the potential returns associated with these two 
forms of investment are really quite different. Moreover, the relative importance to you of the 
different kinds of information disclosed on the fi nancial statements depends on the kind of invest-
ment you make.

A Debt Investment

You would make a debt investment if you loaned the $1 million to Microline. You would then 
become one of the company’s creditors and would require that Microline’s management sign a 
loan contract, specifying (1) the maturity date, the date when the loan is to be paid back; (2) the 
annual interest payment, the amount of interest to be paid each year; (3) collateral, assets to be 
passed to you in case the principal or the interest on the loan is in default (not paid back); and 
(4) any other debt restrictions you feel you should impose on Microline to protect your invest-
ment. The contract might specify, for example, that Microline maintain a certain cash balance 
throughout the period of the loan or that dividends during that period be limited.
 As one of Microline’s creditors, your fi rst concern would be Microline’s ability to meet the 
loan’s interest and principal payments as they come due. Because such payments are made in 
cash, you would be especially interested in Microline’s cash management record and its ability to 
generate cash over the period of the loan. Thus, the information in the statement of cash fl ows 
would be very relevant. You would also be interested in the selling prices of assets that could be 
used as collateral and in the amounts of the loans and other liabilities owed by Microline to other 
creditors. The balance sheet, therefore, which lists Microline’s assets and liabilities, would also 
contain some useful information.
 Mary reminds you that many of Microline’s assets are valued on the balance sheet at his-
torical cost, the dollar amount paid when the assets were acquired, which, in many cases, was 
several years ago. This discovery is worrisome because the historical cost of an asset is rarely the 
same as its current selling price, the relevant amount if an asset is to be considered as collateral 
for the loan.

An Equity Investment

Rather than loaning Microline the $1 million, you may wish to purchase equity in the company. 
As an equity investor, you would become one of the owners, or shareholders, of Microline.
 Equity investments give rise to considerations that are somewhat different from those of 
debt investments. As a shareholder, for example, your return would be primarily in the form of 
stock appreciation and dividends, which would tend to be large if Microline performed well and 
small, or nonexistent, if the company performed poorly. Unlike a loan investment, for which 
interest and principal payments are specifi ed by contract, dividend payments are at the discretion 
of Microline’s board of directors, which is elected annually by the shareholders to represent 
their interests. Such representation involves (at least) quarterly meetings where company policies 
are set, dividends are declared, and the performance and compensation of the company’s upper 
management are reviewed. The board of directors has the power to hire and fi re upper manage-
ment as well as determine the form and amount of their compensation.
 As a shareholder who could vote in the election of the board of directors, your primary 
concern would be the performance of Microline’s management—specifi cally, its ability to gener-
ate and maintain earnings in the future. To achieve such an objective, management must both 
ensure that cash is available to meet debts as they come due and invest in assets that produce a 
satisfactory return in the long run. Consequently, shareholders are interested in the information 
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contained in all four of the fi nancial statements: the balance sheet because it indicates Microline’s 
assets and liabilities, the income statement and statement of shareholders’ equity because they 
indicate Microline’s earning power and dividend payments, and the statement of cash fl ows 
because it provides a report of Microline’s past cash management policies. As a shareholder, 
however, you would be especially interested in the income statement, and especially net income, 
which is generally considered to be the overall measure of management’s performance and the 
company’s earning power.
 You would also be interested in the methods used to compensate Microline’s upper man-
agement. You may wish, for example, to encourage the board of directors to institute a system of 
compensation that paid upper management on the basis of its performance. One way to imple-
ment such a system would be to set compensation levels at amounts expressed as percentages of 
net income. This would motivate Microline’s management to increase net income and, accord-
ingly, their compensation. Such a result should also mean increased earning power and greater 
dividend payments in the future. At the same time, however, you realize that management can 
infl uence the manner in which net income is measured.

A Decision Is Made, but Important Questions Still Remain

After a lengthy discussion with Mary, you decide to invest in the equity of Microline. From the 
information contained in the audit report, the management letter, the fi nancial statements, and the 
footnotes, you have concluded that Microline is a legitimate operation that is solvent, has shown 
signifi cant earning power, and has provided a reasonable return to its shareholders. You reason 
further that if Martin is correct in his prediction that Microline’s new virtual reality gaming sys-
tem will revolutionize the industry, there is a distinct possibility of large returns in the future. 
Shareholders would receive such returns in the form of an increase in the value of their invest-
ment and/or larger dividends, while payments to creditors would be limited to the contractual 
interest and principal payments.
 You thank Mary for her advice and feel satisfi ed with your decision. You realize, however, 
that the future is uncertain and that your investment involves risks.

CONCEPT PRACTICE FOR LEARNING OBJECTIVE

4a. Indicate whether the following items are characteristics of debt or equity.

1. Periodic interest payments
2. Covenant restrictions
3. Right to share proportionately in the profi ts of a company
4. Priority to the company’s assets in case of bankruptcy
5. Right to oversee management
6. Maturity date

4

SOLUTION

1. Debt
2. Debt
3. Equity
4. Debt
5. Equity
6. Debt
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The Economic Environment in Which Financial 

Reports Are Prepared and Used

Huge and unfortunate fi nancial disasters perpetrated by poor risk assessment and sometimes even 
fraudulent fi nancial statements underscore the importance of accurate and credible fi nancial 
reporting for the United States and the world economy. Financial statements provide measures of 
fi rm performance that support decisions by a wide variety of individuals and entities leading to 
billions of dollars in resource transfers each year. Indeed, the world economy depends on the 
reliability and validity of fi nancial reporting.
 Figure 1–6 illustrates the key elements of the fi nancial accounting environment intro-
duced earlier in the Microline scenario. In that scenario, as a potential investor you acted as a 
provider of capital, Martin Wagner and Microline represented the company (manager), and 
Arthur Price was the auditor. The fi gure shows that providers of capital (debt investors and 
equity investors) invest in (send funds to) companies operated by managers. In return, creditors 
(debt investors) expect to receive interest and principal payments, and equity investors have a 
right to profi ts, which they can choose to receive in the form of dividends or allow to remain in 
the company. Company managers (1) hire auditors to attest to the fi nancial information and 

5

List the major 
elements of the 
environment in which 
fi nancial reports are 
prepared and used 
and describe how 
these elements 
encourage effective 
corporate 
governance.

LEARNING OBJECTIVE

SOLUTION

1. Solvency
2. Earning power

4b. Match the concepts of solvency and earning power with the appropriate defi ni-
tions below.

1. A company’s ability to generate enough cash to meet its debt obligations as they come due
2. A company’s ability to generate profi ts and increase net assets

Providers of Capital

Debt Investors Equity Investors

Debt
Contracts

Equity
Invest-
ment

Compen-
sation

Contracts

Interest
and

Principal Profit

Professional
Reputation
and Ethics

Auditors
Financial

Accounting
Statements

Attest

Debt
Invest-
ments

Companies (Managers) Audit Fees

Legal Liability

FIGURE 1–6 Basic 
relationships in the 
fi nancial reporting 

process
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(2) enter into debt and/or compensation contracts. Auditors add credibility to the fi nancial 
statements by attesting to whether they were prepared in conformance with fi nancial reporting 
standards and fairly present the company’s fi nancial performance and position, and contracts 
either protect the interests of creditors or are structured to encourage management to act in the 
interest of the company’s owners—the shareholders.
 In this environment, fi nancial reporting information plays two fundamental roles. First, it 
helps debt and equity investors evaluate management’s past business decisions and predict future 
performance. Second, it contains numbers (e.g., net income) used in debt and compensation con-
tracts that infl uence management behavior.

?
On its 2014 income statement General Electric (GE) reported over $15.3 billion of net 
income. Explain how this number could be used to evaluate GE management’s past 
business decisions, predict GE’s future performance, and infl uence GE management to 
make decisions in the interests of GE’s shareholders.

 An important feature of this environment is the level of corporate governance, which 
refers to mechanisms encouraging management to act in the interest of—and report in good faith 
to—the shareholders. Strong corporate governance is necessary because management has incen-
tives to act and report in its own interest at the expense of the shareholders, and auditors face 
confl icting goals—they are responsible to capital providers to perform independent and objective 
audits, but their fees are paid by management, who can choose to replace them. As illustrated in 
Figure 1–6, three factors encourage managers and auditors to act professionally: (1) professional 
reputation, (2) legal liability, and (3) ethics. The fi rst two are driven by economics—profes-
sional behavior enhances the auditor’s reputation, which both leads to future business and reduces 
the likelihood of litigation. The third encourages professional behavior simply because it is the 
right thing to do. In the following sections we describe the reporting process in more detail and 
discuss the essential elements of effective corporate governance.

Reporting Entities and Industries

Financial statements are prepared by reporting entities called companies, businesses, or fi rms—
referred to as Company (Managers) in Figure 1–6. These profi t-seeking entities are often further 
divided into segments and subsidiaries, each of which provides its own fi nancial statements. For 
example, in the annual report of Darden Restaurants, the fi nancial statements are referred to as 
consolidated fi nancial statements, which means that the total dollar amounts in the accounts on 
the fi nancial statements include those of other companies, such as Red Lobster and Olive Garden, 
that Darden owns. These companies, called subsidiaries, prepare their own separate fi nancial 
statements. Similarly, Alphabet, Inc., is a holding company that owns Google, in its consolidated 
fi nancial statements. Google is now divided into web search and hardware divisions, and fi nancial 
reports on each are compiled.
 Financial statements are also prepared by entities not established to make profi ts, including 
counties, cities, school districts, other municipalities, charitable organizations, and foundations. 
In this text we limit our coverage to fi nancial reports prepared by profi t-seeking entities.
 Companies are often grouped into industries based on the nature of their operations. While 
there are many industry classifi cations, they can be summarized into three basic categories: man-
ufacturing, retailing, and services (general and fi nancial). Manufacturing fi rms like General 
Motors, IBM, and PepsiCo acquire raw materials and convert them into goods sold either to 
consumers, usually through retailers, or to other manufacturers that use them as raw materials. 
Retail fi rms like Walmart, Home Depot, Lowe’s Home Improvement, Kohl’s, Toys “ R” Us, and 
JCPenney purchase goods from manufacturers and sell them to consumers. The service industry 
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includes fi rms like AT&T, Federal Express, and H&R Block, which provide general services, as 
well as fi rms like Citicorp, American Express, and Prudential Insurance, which provide fi nancial 
services. Internet fi rms, such as Google, Yahoo!, and Amazon.com, are also part of the service 
industry. Specifi c industry classifi cations are provided by the well-known Standard Industrial 
Classifi cation (SIC) Index, which assigns a one- to four-digit code to industries—the more digits 
in the code, the more specifi c the industry classifi cation.
 Knowledge of industries is important when analyzing fi nancial statements because the relative 
importance of different aspects of fi nancial performance and condition varies across fi rms in differ-
ent industries. Managing outstanding loans, for example, is very important for lending institutions 
(banks) but less important for retailers like Walmart that extend limited credit to customers. Further-
more, it is diffi cult to assess management’s performance without knowledge of the overall perfor-
mance of the company’s industry, and without benchmarking management’s performance against 
the performance of companies facing similar economic environments normally in the same industry.

?
Into what industry category (manufacturing, retail, service) would each of the following 
fi rms be placed? Boeing, Tommy Hilfi ger, DuPont, American Express, General Elec-
tric, Microsoft, eBay, Southwest Airlines, and Sprint.

Corporate Governance

As indicated earlier, corporate governance refers to mechanisms that encourage management to 
act in the interest of—and report in good faith to—the shareholders. Components of corporate 
governance include fi nancial information users and capital markets, contracts between manage-
ment and debt and equity investors, fi nancial reporting regulations and standards, independent 
auditors, boards of directors and audit committees, internal controls ensuring that the company is 
in compliance with fi nancial reporting regulations, legal liability, professional reputation, and 
ethics. As discussed below, each of these components somehow involves the fi nancial statements, 
and an effective fi nancial reporting system is critical for effective corporate governance.

Financial Information Users and Capital Markets

Financial statements are used by a variety of groups and can be divided into three categories: 
equity investors, debt investors, and others (including management).

Equity Investors

Equity investors (often referred to simply as investors) purchase shares of stock, which represent 
ownership interests in a company. Ownership of an equity security entitles the holder to two basic 
rights: (1) the right to oversee management and (2) the right to profi ts earned by the entity. Equity 
investors can be classifi ed into two groups. The fi rst owns a substantial amount of the company’s 
stock and uses the right to oversee management to exert infl uence on—or control over—the 
activities of the company. The majority of equity investors, however, fall into a second group, 
where the ownership interest is too small to exert signifi cant infl uence on the company. These 
investors have little direct infl uence over management, so their main concern is the returns (divi-
dends and price appreciation) associated with holding the equity security.
 Equity investors and their representatives, such as fi nancial and security analysts and stock-
brokers, are interested in fi nancial information because it helps them ascertain whether manage-
ment is making wise business decisions. If the fi nancial statements indicate that management has 
failed, investors holding large equity interests often use voting power to replace management 
while investors with relatively small equity interests normally sell their ownership interests. 
Indeed, management’s performance as depicted by the fi nancial statements plays an important role 
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in monitoring and enforcing management’s accountability to the shareholders. Simply stated, the 
fi nancial statements tell shareholders how well their capital is being managed.

Debt Investors (Creditors)

Creditors provide capital (funds) to companies through loans. These investments involve loan 
contracts that normally specify (1) a maturity date, the date when the loan is to be repaid; (2) an 
annual interest payment, the amount of interest to be paid each year; (3) collateral, assets to be 
transferred to the creditor in case the loan payments are not met (default); and (4) additional debt 
restrictions generally designed to reduce default risk.
 Creditors have limited infl uence over the company other than through the terms of the debt 
contract. They use fi nancial information because it helps them assess the likelihood of default 
(the company is unable to make the loan payments), which in turn helps to establish terms of the 
debt contract. Normally, if the fi nancial statements indicate that the risk of default is increasing, 
the terms of the debt contract become harsher—the interest rate and need for collateral increase, 
and the creditor may impose additional restrictions to further limit management’s behavior. Con-
sequently, a company’s fi nancial condition and performance, as indicated by the fi nancial state-
ments, are directly linked to how much it costs to borrow funds from creditors.

Management and Other Financial Statement Users

Management often uses the fi nancial statements of other fi rms to assess the fi nancial strength and 
strategies of competitors and to decide whether to enter into business relationships with other 
fi rms (e.g., suppliers, customers). It also uses its own fi nancial statements to determine dividend 
payments, set company policies, and, in general, to help guide business decisions.
 Other users include government bodies, such as the Federal Trade Commission, which 
often base regulatory decisions on information disclosed in the fi nancial statements, and public 
utilities, which normally base their rates (the prices they charge their customers) on fi nancial 
accounting numbers such as net income. Labor unions have also been known to use accounting 
numbers to argue for more wages or other benefi ts.

Capital Markets

Equity and debt securities (investments) are held by both individuals and entities. Billions of 
shares of stock are held in large U.S. corporations, which, in turn, hold shares in each other. Debt 
securities in the form of loans are held primarily by banks, while debt securities in the form of 
bonds issued by large corporations are held by individuals and institutions.
 Equity and debt securities are traded on public exchanges in the United States and in other 
countries. The New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) is by far the largest, but active exchanges exist in 
most of the major cities throughout the world. Large U.S. companies normally have their stocks 
listed on several exchanges, and many non-U.S. fi rms are listed in New York. More information 
about the NYSE and the fi rms listed on it can be found on the Internet at www.NYSE.com.

?
Publicly traded fi rms are so named because their shares of stock are owned by the pub-
lic and traded on the public stock exchanges. As of October 23, 2015, for example, one 
share of Microsoft, a publicly traded fi rm, could be purchased by anyone for $52.87. So 
that investors can be adequately informed, the U.S. government requires publicly traded 

fi rms to meet extensive reporting requirements, and the fi nancial statements of these com-
panies can easily be accessed by anyone at any time. Recently, large investing fi rms, such 
as KKR and Blackstone, have purchased via the public exchanges all the outstanding shares 
of many publicly traded fi rms, “taking them private.” Briefl y discuss why Blackstone might 
want to take such an action, and describe some of the implications to the managers of the 
purchased fi rm and the investing public.
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 The prices at which equity and debt securities trade on the fi nancial markets vary from day 
to day based largely on changes in investor expectations about the issuing company’s future per-
formance. Good news about the company tends to lead to increases in the market prices of its 
outstanding equity and debt securities, whereas bad news normally is associated with price 
declines. Price changes are widely considered to be a measure of management’s performance, 
although they are determined by a variety of factors, only some of which are under management’s 
control. Financial statements are an important source of the information used by those who invest 
in capital markets in setting expectations about a company’s future prospects and in determining 
whether the company met those expectations. Consequently, fi nancial statements are directly 
linked to the market prices of the company’s equity and debt securities.

?
In the introduction to Part 1 of this text we noted that stock market analysts were sur-
prised by Chipotle’s revenues and earnings. In response, the market price of Chipotle 
stock dropped. Explain why the price decreased, and how capital markets through the 
fi nancial statements can incent or discipline management behavior.

?
Motorola Solutions has an employee incentive plan that makes annual payments to eligi-
ble employees based on whether they achieve specifi ed business goals, many of which 
are expressed in terms of fi nancial statement numbers. Recently the company paid over 
$250 million for these awards. Explain why Motorola Solutions has such a plan and 

how it works.

Contracts: Debt Covenants and Management Compensation

Capital providers (debt and equity investors) normally require management to enter contracts 
designed to reduce risk and encourage business decision making consistent with capital-provider 
interests. Such contracts take two general forms: debt covenants and management compensation.
 Debt covenants are included in debt contracts, often requiring management to maintain 
certain levels of fi nancial performance or position to help ensure that management will be able to 
make the debt payments when they come due. Violating these requirements (technical default) 
normally gives the debtholder the right to demand that the entire debt be paid immediately, often 
leading to more costly debt terms. Management compensation contracts typically base manage-
ment pay on certain net income or stock price goals, which can encourage desirable management 
decision making. Debt covenants and management compensation contracts provide examples 
where numbers taken from the fi nancial statements are used in contracts written by capital pro-
viders to shape management behavior.

Independent Auditors

Major U.S. companies incur considerable costs to have their fi nancial statements audited by 
independent public accounting fi rms. Four public accounting fi rms, known as the “Big 4,” audit 
most of the large companies. These fi rms and a selection of their major clients are listed in Fig-
ure 1–7. Many regional and local public accounting fi rms are located throughout the United 
States. Their audit clients comprise the thousands of midsized and small companies that, for 
various reasons, have their fi nancial statements audited.

Accounting Firm Major Clients

PricewaterhouseCoopers eBay, Cisco Systems, DuPont

Deloitte & Touche Microsoft, Boeing, Merrill Lynch

Ernst & Young Walmart, Intel, Hewlett Packard

KPMG Peat Marwick JCPenney, PepsiCo, Xerox

FIGURE 1–7 

“Big 4” accounting fi rms 
and major clients
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 The result of the audit is the audit report or audit opinion. The standard audit report, which 
is normally divided into three paragraphs, is illustrated in Figure 1–2. The fi rst paragraph states 
that the fi nancial statements and the internal controls were audited but that the responsibility for 
preparing the reports and the effectiveness of the controls rests with management; the second 
describes that the auditor conducted the audit in accordance with auditing standards established 
by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) and briefl y describes what 
that means; the fi nal paragraph states the conclusion, normally indicating that the fi nancial state-
ments present the company’s fi nancial position and performance fairly and in accordance with 
GAAP, and the internal controls are reasonably effective. However, a standard audit opinion is 
not always rendered to all companies. Sometimes auditors fi nd that they are unable to reach a 
conclusion, the fi nancial statements are not in conformance with GAAP, the internal control sys-
tem is not effective, or some concern exists about the company’s viability as a going concern in 
the foreseeable future. Departures from the standard audit opinion can signal problems that can 
cause great concern to management and capital providers.

?
When Dell, Inc., was a publicly traded fi rm, the leading computer manufacturer once 
postponed the release of its audited fi nancial statements while the company discussed 
possible accounting irregularities with its auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers. Briefl y 
comment on what might have occurred in these discussions.

Board of Directors and Audit Committee

The board of directors, elected annually by the shareholders, oversees management to ensure that 
it acts in the interest of the shareholders. Such oversight involves periodic (at least quarterly) 
meetings where company policies are set, dividends are declared, and the performance and com-
pensation of the company’s offi cers are reviewed. The board, normally composed of both com-
pany offi cers and nonmanagement representatives, has the power to hire and fi re the offi cers as 
well as determine the form and amount of their compensation.
 Figure 1–8 illustrates that the shareholders elect the board of directors, which appoints a 
subcommittee of outside (nonmanagement) directors called the audit committee. This commit-
tee works with management to choose an auditor, and it monitors the audit to ensure that it is 
thorough, objective, and independent. Despite these controls, management still pays the audit fee 
and has considerable infl uence over whether the auditing fi rm is hired again. Such infl uence can 
threaten the auditor’s independence. Accountancy magazine reports that “auditors may be loath 
to report faults in their clients’ operations for fear of losing their audit contract.” Some managers 
have been known to shop around for favorable audit opinions. For example, after Broadview 
Financial Corporation, a large Ohio company, switched auditors, it was revealed that the switch 
was due to disagreements about proper methods of accounting. “Opinion shopping” is expressly 
prohibited by the SEC, and signifi cant disagreements with the auditor are supposed to be reported 
and described by publicly traded companies in the Form 8K, which is fi led with the SEC.

Sarbanes–Oxley Act

The Sarbanes–Oxley Act, passed by Congress in 2002 in response to a series of corporate fi nan-
cial statement frauds leading to billions of dollars in investor losses, was an attempt to bolster 
corporate governance and restore confi dence in the U.S. fi nancial reporting system. It enacted 
sweeping changes in the responsibilities of management, fi nancial disclosures, independence and 
effectiveness of auditors and audit committees, and oversight of public companies and auditors. 
The act requires the principal executive and fi nancial offi cers to certify that the fi nancial reports 
have been reviewed, do not contain untrue statements or omit important information, and fairly 
present the company’s fi nancial condition and performance. It also places additional responsi-
bilities on management and the auditor to ensure that adequate internal controls are in place to 
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provide reasonable assurance that the fi nancial records are complete and accurate. Management 
must also fi le an annual report on internal controls over fi nancial reporting, and the external audi-
tor must attest to and report on management’s assessment of internal controls. In summary, this 
act places heavy emphasis on the quality of a company’s internal control system and signifi cantly 
increases the auditor’s role in ensuring that the control system meets high standards.

Legal Liability

Management is legally responsible to the shareholders to act in their interests and to report in 
good faith. Auditors are legally responsible to the shareholders to conduct a thorough and inde-
pendent audit. These responsibilities create a legal liability to those who rely on the fi nancial 
statements. If management or auditors fail in these responsibilities and as a result investors and 
others suffer fi nancial losses, management and the auditors can be sued to recover those losses. 
Litigation brought against management and auditors by shareholders is common and very costly 
and seems to increase each year in the United States. Some of the greatest fi nancial frauds in the 
history of the United States recently have led to billions of dollars in losses borne by innocent 
investors, creditors, employees, and others. Enron, WorldCom (now MCI), HealthSouth, Xerox 
Corp., Rite Aid, and Qwest Communications International provide vivid examples of how inter-
nal control breakdowns and fl awed and dishonest management and auditing can result in mis-
stated fi nancial statements that ultimately cost the U.S. economy billions of dollars; in each case 
huge litigation settlements were brought against corporate management and the auditor. Indeed, 

Shareholders

Elect board of directors

Management

Manages company

Auditor

Audit fee

Audit Committee 

Helps to choose
auditor and monitors
management and
auditor

Board of Directors

Sets company policy
Declares dividends
Sets management compensation
Hires/fires management
Appoints audit committee

FIGURE 1–8 
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in the last 20 years, two huge auditing fi rms—Laventhol & Horwath and Arthur Andersen—have 
met their demise, in large part due to the costs of litigation. Legal liability defi nitely plays a 
critical role in corporate governance, creating a powerful economic incentive for managers and 
auditors to act professionally and ethically.

Professional Reputation and Ethics

The many aspects of corporate governance (e.g., capital markets, contracts, reporting regulations, 
independent auditors, boards of directors and audit committees, and legal liability) suggest that a 
large amount of mistrust exists among shareholders, managers, and auditors. This observation is 
diffi cult to question given that cases of management fraud and embezzlement have risen signifi -
cantly in recent years and that audit fi rms have increasingly been found guilty of misconduct. 
Some even suggest that U.S. business is suffering from an ethics crisis. Indeed, businesspeople in 
general are often viewed as greedy, driven, and unscrupulous.
 Notwithstanding these developments, little doubt exists that ethics is a major business asset 
and that ethical behavior is in the long-run best interest of managers, shareholders, and auditors. 
Clifford Smith, a professor of fi nance at the University of Rochester, stated in the Journal of 
Applied Corporate Finance that “ethical behavior is profi table.” In recognition of the value of eth-
ics, major U.S. companies, such as Boeing, General Mills, and Johnson & Johnson, have instituted 
special programs designed specifi cally to instill ethical behavior in their employees. Most of the 
top business schools offer courses in ethics. The American Institute of Certifi ed Public Accoun-
tants (AICPA), the professional organization of CPAs, has a strong professional code of ethics 
designed to instill higher ethical standards in the members of the accounting profession.
 Such efforts are not only moral, but they are driven by sound economic logic as well. Com-
panies with reputations for quality, service, and ethical business practices are highly valued by 
investors and creditors partially because their fi nancial statements can be trusted. Such compa-
nies and their managers are sued less frequently. As the employee manual of Wetherill Associates 
states, “We do not try to make profi ts or avoid losses. Instead, we try to take the ‘right action’ in 
the best way we know; the profi ts are a natural by-product.”
 Auditors also benefi t from ethical behavior and strong reputations. Independent and 
respectable auditors face fewer liability suits and can generally charge client companies higher 
fees, primarily because their audit reports are trusted by the public. Consequently, it is important 
to realize that while the fi nancial accounting process is a system of control, and manager and 
auditor fraud will continue to occur, it is best to be ethical, from both a moral and an economic 
standpoint. Not surprisingly, the most successful companies and audit fi rms enjoy the best repu-
tations for high ethical standards.

CONCEPT PRACTICE FOR LEARNING OBJECTIVE 5

Match the elements of the environment in which fi nancial reports are prepared and 
used with the description of how they encourage effective corporate governance.

Elements of fi nancial reporting 

environment

Description of how they encourage effective corporate governance

Providers of capital Agreements required by creditors and owners to encourage manage-
ment to act in a manner consistent with their interests

Companies Group elected by the owners to oversee management and ensure that 
decisions are made in line with owner interests

Debt and compensation 
contracts

Standards that when violated may cause outsiders to lose faith in 
companies and consider them less valuable
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Financial Reporting Regulations and Standards

In 1934 the U.S. Congress created the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) to imple-
ment and enforce the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Secu-
rities Act of 1933 requires companies that raise capital (collect funds) through public equity and 
debt exchanges (e.g., the New York Stock Exchange) to fi le a registration statement (Form S-1) 
with the SEC. The Securities Exchange Act of 1934 states that, among other requirements, com-
panies with equity and/or debt securities listed on the public security markets (called listed com-
panies) must (1) annually fi le a Form 10-K (audited fi nancial reports), (2) quarterly fi le a Form 
10-Q (unaudited quarterly fi nancial statements), and (3) annually provide audited fi nancial 
reports to the shareholders. Non-U.S. listed companies are required to fi le the SEC Form 20-F. 
The Forms 10-K, 10-Q, and 20-F contain a wealth of publicly available information and can be 
obtained by accessing the Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis, and Retrieval (EDGAR) system 
at the website www.sec.gov. Annual reports for individual companies are sent directly to share-
holders but can be obtained by anyone through the company’s website (e.g., homedepot.com).

Annual reports published by major U.S. and non-U.S. companies typically include audited 
balance sheets for the two most recent years and audited statements of income, shareholders’ 
equity, and cash fl ows for the three most recent years. They also include the following:

• A letter to the shareholders from a high-ranking offi cer

• A description of the business

6

Summarize the 
current status of 
accounting standard 
setting—both in the 
United States and 
internationally.

LEARNING OBJECTIVE

SOLUTION

Elements of fi nancial 

reporting environment

Description of how they encourage effective corporate governance

Providers of capital Group whose investments in companies depend on management’s 
ability to show that it acts appropriately and provides timely fi nancial 
reports in good faith

Companies Entities operated by managers in a manner that should be consistent 
with owner interests

Debt and compensation 
contracts

Agreements required by creditors and owners to encourage manage-
ment to act in a manner consistent with their interests

Auditors Persons whose reports render an opinion to outsiders on the quality of 
a company’s internal controls and fi nancial statements

Board of directors Group elected by the owners to oversee management and ensure that 
decisions are made in line with owner interests

Legal liability Risk of being sued for large sums of money if management and/or the 
auditors are negligent or fraudulent

Professional reputation 
and ethics

Standards that when violated may cause outsiders to lose faith in 
companies and consider them less valuable

Auditors Risk of being sued for large sums of money if management and/or the 
auditors are negligent or fraudulent

Board of directors Entities operated by managers in a manner that should be consistent 
with owner interests

Legal liability Persons whose reports render an opinion to outsiders on the quality of 
a company’s internal controls and fi nancial statements

Professional reputation and 
ethics

Group whose investments in companies depend on management’s 
ability to show that it acts appropriately and provides timely fi nancial 
reports in good faith

sa
m

ple



International Perspective: Financial Statement Users Need to Be Bilingual  25 

• Management’s discussion and analysis of the company’s fi nancial condition and performance

• Footnotes that describe the estimates, assumptions, and methods used to produce the numbers 
on the fi nancial statements

• Selected quarterly data

• Summaries of selected fi nancial information for at least the last fi ve years

• Information about each of the company’s major segments

• A letter from management stating its reporting responsibilities

• A letter from the company’s outside (external) auditors stating whether the fi nancial state-
ments were prepared according to acceptable standards

• A listing of the members of the board of directors and executive offi cers

A large portion of the Form 10-K (including fi nancial statements and footnotes) of The Walt 
Disney Company is provided online at www.wiley.com/college/pratt. Take a few minutes to 
review it because we refer to this report frequently throughout the remainder of the text.

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

Under current SEC regulations, U.S. companies whose securities are publicly traded on the U.S. 
exchanges must prepare their fi nancial statements in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (U.S. GAAP), and non-U.S. companies can use either U.S. GAAP or 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). External auditors must attest that these 
standards have been followed in the preparation of the fi nancial statements. U.S. GAAP is estab-
lished by a privately fi nanced body called the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB), 
and IFRS is established by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). In the 
remainder of this text we use the phrase Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) to 
describe either U.S. GAAP or IFRS.
 These standards are useful because they lend credibility to the fi nancial statements and 
help facilitate meaningful comparisons across different companies. However, the standards are 
often controversial because reporting requirements impose costs on companies required to fol-
low them, many of which argue enthusiastically that these costs exceed the benefi ts created by 
the standards. Consequently, the accounting standard-setting process can be very political, 
involving controversial input from companies, government regulators (e.g., SEC), Congress, 
fi nancial statement users (fi nancial and security analysts), and sometimes even the general 
public.

?
Many executives contend that fi nancial accounting standards requiring that management 
compensation be measured in a way that reduces net income will negatively affect their 
fi rms. Accounting standard setters claim that the only objective is to improve fi nancial 
reporting without regard for the consequences of its decisions. What do you think?

International Perspective: Financial Statement 

Users Need to Be Bilingual

For many years the different histories, economies, political systems, and cultures of countries 
throughout the world gave rise to vastly different fi nancial reporting systems. In North America, 
the United Kingdom, and Australia, for example, the fi nancial reporting systems were oriented 
toward the decision needs of equity investors and designed to measure management performance 
in a true and fair manner. In European countries and Japan, the fi nancial reports were heavily 
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infl uenced by government requirements (e.g., tax law), and the statements were targeted more 
toward the needs of creditors, giving management much more discretion in the preparation of the 
reports. In these settings fi nancial reporting also tended to be intentionally conservative instead 
of designed to report management’s true performance. In today’s fast-moving, global market-
place this situation is quickly changing.
 As described earlier, two sets of fi nancial reporting standards are currently accepted by the 
SEC: U.S. GAAP and IFRS. Non-U.S. companies that follow IFRS are accepted by the SEC, and 
U.S. companies must follow U.S. GAAP. Since 2005 all public companies in the European Union 
have been required to report under IFRS, and virtually all of the major non-U.S. stock exchanges 
(e.g., London, Tokyo, Frankfurt, Paris) now accept IFRS.
 While the fundamental principles underlying U.S. GAAP and IFRS are the same and there 
is huge overlap in the content, signifi cant differences do exist, which means that in today’s envi-
ronment savvy investors must be bilingual; that is, they need to be familiar with both U.S. GAAP 
and IFRS.
 In this text most of the discussion is based on U.S. GAAP, but throughout we describe and 
illustrate important differences between the two systems as they arise. In the future you are very 
likely to be exposed to IFRS-based fi nancial reporting in one form or another.

?
Discuss some of the problems associated with two different sets of fi nancial reporting 
standards and why a single set of global standards might be desirable. Would there be 
any drawbacks to a single set of standards?

CONCEPT PRACTICE FOR LEARNING OBJECTIVE

Indicate whether each of the following items describes U.S. Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (U.S. GAAP) or International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

1. The authority of the Financial Accounting Standards Board to develop these fi nancial report-
ing standards was delegated to it by the Securities and Exchange Commission.

2. To have their securities traded on the U.S. public exchanges, U.S. companies must follow 
these standards.

3. Unlike U.S. companies, non-U.S. companies that follow these standards can have their se-
curities traded on the U.S. public exchanges.

4. When reading SEC Form 20-F, an investor often fi nds these standards used by non-U.S. 
companies.

5. When reading SEC Form 10-K, an investor is likely to fi nd these standards used by U.S. 
companies.

6. These standards are being developed by the International Accounting Standards Board.

6

SOLUTION

1. U.S. GAAP
2. U.S. GAAP
3. IFRS
4. IFRS
5. U.S. GAAP
6. IFRS
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APPENDIX 1A

Three Other Kinds of Accounting

This text is devoted almost exclusively to fi nancial accounting. However, you should be aware of 
the three other kinds of accounting usually covered in other accounting courses: not-for-profi t 
accounting, managerial accounting, and tax accounting.
 Many economic entities do not have profi t as an objective. Municipalities, such as cities, 
simply receive money from taxes, service fees, and debt investors and allocate it to address public 
needs. For example, a city allocates funds to a police department to ensure public safety. The 
process of recording these fund infl ows and outfl ows and reporting them to the public is quite 
logically called not-for-profi t accounting.
 Managers need internal information systems to generate timely and accurate informa-
tion that helps them plan and operate effi ciently on a day-to-day basis. To guide their deci-
sions, managers rely to some extent on the information produced by the fi nancial accounting 
system. However, more important to such decisions is information that is not available to the 
public and is produced strictly for management’s own use. Such information is referred to as 
managerial accounting information, and managerial accounting is usually covered in a sepa-
rate course.
 The area of accounting devoted to understanding and applying the tax law is known as tax 
accounting. Our complicated and constantly changing tax structure requires that thousands of 
accountants specialize in this area. Furthermore, tax law is extremely detailed and complicated; 
even a moderate coverage of tax accounting requires a number of separate accounting or law 
courses.
 An important distinction should be made between the income number resulting from 
applying income tax laws (called taxable income) and the income number that results from fi nan-
cial accounting (called net income). The Internal Revenue Code specifi es the rules to be followed 
to calculate taxable income. An entity’s tax obligation is then computed as a percentage of this 
taxable income. Financial accounting income, or net income, is determined by applying fi nancial 
accounting principles and procedures, which differ in many ways from the tax laws stated in the 
Internal Revenue Code. As a result, net income is not necessarily equal to taxable income. Tax 
laws are enacted for purposes quite different from those that drive the development of fi nancial 
accounting principles. Accounting students often confuse these two sets of rules.

7

Discuss other kinds of 
accounting.

LEARNING OBJECTIVE

R E V I E W  O F  L E A R N I N G  O B J E C T I V E S

LO1. Discuss the role of fi nancial reports in investment decisions and the difference between the 
economic consequence and user perspectives. Financial reports provide fi nancial information used by 
investors to assess a company’s past fi nancial performance and its current fi nancial condition. These reports 
help them to decide where to invest their money, and the dollar values in these reports are used in debt and 
compensation contracts to encourage management to act in the interests of the company’s creditors and 
owners. A user perspective views fi nancial reports as useful in guiding decisions that depend upon the fi nan-
cial performance and condition of a company, whereas an economic consequence perspective views fi nan-
cial reports in terms of how those decisions affect the parties (e.g., investors, creditors, management, 
employees, suppliers, customers, government) involved in the fi nancial reporting process.

LO2. Explain the difference between consumption and investment and why investors demand docu-
mentation and independent audits. Consumption spending is enjoyed immediately without considering 
future fi nancial returns, while investment spending considers future fi nancial returns in an attempt to con-
sume more in the future. Investors demand that fi nancial reports be documented and audited by indepen-
dent experts because management, who prepares the fi nancial reports, has an economic incentive to cast 
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28  CHAPTER 1 Financial Accounting and Its Economic Context

the fi nancial performance and condition of the company in a positive light, which may not accurately 
refl ect the truth.

LO3. Describe the standard audit report, management letter, four fi nancial statements, and related 
footnotes. The standard audit report states that (1) the fi nancial statements and the company’s internal 
controls are the responsibility of management, (2) the auditor’s examination of the fi nancial statements and 
internal controls was made in accordance with standards established by the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board (PCAOB), and (3) the fi nancial statements were prepared in conformance with generally 
accepted accounting principles and the internal controls are reasonably effective.
 The management letter also states that management prepared the fi nancial statements and maintains the 
company’s internal controls in a manner consistent with professional standards and that the preparation of 
the statements required management’s best estimates and judgments.
 The balance sheet lists the company’s assets, liabilities, and shareholders’ equity at a given point in time, 
whereas the income statement, statement of shareholders’ equity, and statement of cash fl ows all describe 
the company’s activities during a period of time. The income statement describes the revenues less the 
expenses, highlighting net income or net profi t; the statement of shareholders’ equity describes the change 
in the investment made by the owners; and the statement of cash fl ows describes the change in the compa-
ny’s cash balance. The footnotes provide additional detail about the dollar values disclosed on the fi nancial 
statements.

LO4. Differentiate debt from equity and the concepts of solvency and earning power. A debt invest-
ment is a loan and debt investors are called creditors. When debt investments are made in a company (loans 
are made), the loan contract normally states when the principal amount of the loan is to be paid back, the 
periodic interest payment, collateral, and other restrictions on management (covenants) designed to increase 
the likelihood that the loan service payments will be made on a timely basis. An equity investment in a 
company is a purchase of ownership, which gives the investor the right to infl uence management decisions 
and profi ts in proportion to the percent of ownership acquired. The return to the equity investor depends on 
the success of the company. If the company does well, profi ts are high and the return is high; if the company 
does poorly, profi ts are low and the return is low.
 The concept of solvency refers to the ability of a company to meet its debt service payments (interest and 
principal) on a timely basis. Stated another way, can the company generate enough cash to meet the debt 
payments as they come due? The concept of earning power refers to the ability of a company to generate 
profi ts. Because cash and profi ts are not the same, solvency and earning power are not the same concept. A 
company can be solvent but not profi table or insolvent and profi table.

LO5. List the major elements of the environment in which fi nancial reports are prepared and used 
and describe how these elements encourage effective corporate governance. The major elements of the 
environment in which fi nancial statements are prepared and used include capital providers (debt and equity 
investors), companies, debt covenants and compensation contracts, independent auditors, boards of direc-
tors, legal liability, and professional reputation and ethics. Each of these elements contributes to effective 
corporate governance by encouraging management to act in the interest of the company’s owners and pre-
pare periodic fi nancial reports in a timely manner and in good faith.

LO6. Summarize the current status of accounting standard setting—both in the United States and 
internationally. Currently two sets of fi nancial reporting standards exist—U.S. Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (U.S. GAAP) and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). When audits 
are performed, the auditor states whether the company’s fi nancial statements have been prepared in accor-
dance with one or the other of these sets of standards. The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) 
requires that U.S. companies listed on the U.S. public exchanges prepare their fi nancial statements in accor-
dance with U.S. GAAP. The securities of non-U.S. companies can be traded on the U.S. exchanges if they 
use either U.S. GAAP or IFRS. The security exchanges operating in the European Union (EU) countries 
(e.g., France, Germany, Italy) require either IFRS or U.S. GAAP. While the rules of U.S. GAAP and IFRS 
are in the majority of cases very similar, some key differences exist, so debt and equity investors need to be 
reasonably familiar with both sets of standards.
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K E Y  T E R M S

American Institute of Certifi ed 
Public Accountants 
(AICPA), p. 23

Annual interest, p. 14
Annual reports, p. 24
Assets, p. 11
Audit committee, p. 21
Auditor’s report, p. 7
Balance sheet, p. 11
“Big 4,” p. 20
Board of directors, p. 14
Certifi ed public accountant 

(CPA), p. 6
Common stock, p. 12
Compensation contracts, p. 17
Consolidated fi nancial 

statements, p. 17
Corporate governance, p. 17
Creditors, p. 12
Debt covenants, p. 20
Debt investment, p. 14

Debt restrictions, p. 14
Dividends, p. 12
Earning power, p. 13
Economic consequence 

perspective, p. 4
Equity, p. 14
Ethics, p. 17
Expenses, p. 12
Financial accounting, p. 3
Financial Accounting 

Standards Board (FASB), 
p. 25

Financing activities, p. 12
Footnotes, p. 11
Form 10-K, p. 24
Form 10-Q, p. 24
Form 20-F, p. 24
Generally Accepted 

Accounting Principles 
(GAAP), p. 25

Historical cost, p. 14

Income statement, p. 12
Independent audit, p. 6
Industries, p. 17
Internal control system, p. 9
International Accounting 

Standards Board (IASB), 
p. 25

International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS), 
p. 25

Investing activities, p. 12
Legal liability, p. 17
Liabilities, p. 11
Loan contract, p. 14
Management letter, p. 7
Managerial accounting, p. 27
Net income (profi t or 

earnings), p. 12
Not-for-profi t accounting, p. 27
Operating activities, p. 12
Professional reputation, p. 17

Profi t-seeking entities, p. 17
Public Company Accounting 

Oversight Board (PCAOB), 
p. 21

Retained earnings, p. 12
Revenues, p. 12
Sarbanes–Oxley Act, p. 21
Securities and Exchange 

Commission (SEC), p. 24
Shareholders, p. 14
Shareholders’ equity, p. 12
Solvency, p. 13
Statement of cash fl ows, p. 12
Statement of shareholders’ 

equity, p. 12
Subsidiaries, p. 17
Tax accounting, p. 27
User orientation, p. 4
U.S. Generally Accepted 

Accounting Principles (U.S. 
GAAP), p. 25

Note: Defi nitions for these terms are provided in the glossary at the end of the text.

While granting clean audit opinions on the 
fi nancial statements by Vienna software 
maker MicroStrategy, Inc., auditor Pricewa-
terhouseCoopers was also serving as inter-
mediary in the sale of MicroStrategy prod-
ucts. Wearing those two hats can compromise 
the independence required of audit fi rms, 
which highlights a federal requirement that 
auditors severely limit additional services 

provided for audit clients and under no cir-
cumstances own stock in their clients.

ETHICAL ISSUE Is it ethical for the same 
fi rm to provide an independent audit service 
for a client while also providing business 
advisory services, and can an auditor main-
tain an independent perspective while owning 
equity securities in an audit client?

ETHICS in the Real World

O N L I N E  R E S E A R C H  E X E R C I S E

Recall the reference to Chipotle at the beginning of the chapter. Start with the Chipotle website (www.chipotle.com, Investors) and 
fi nd the most recent SEC Form 10-K. Find the income statement, revenues, and net income numbers for the last three years.

WileyPLUS Brief Exercises, Exercises, and Problems are assignable in WileyPLUS.  Student resources for study 

and practice are also available in WileyPLUS.
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30  CHAPTER 1 Financial Accounting and Its Economic Context

I S S U E S  F O R  D I S C U S S I O N

Financial accounting statements are used by many parties. Describe how each of the following parties might 
use them: security analysts and shareholders, bank loan offi cers, a company’s customers and suppliers, 
public utilities, labor unions, and a company’s managers.

The AICPA’s list of red fl ags alerting auditors to the possibility of management fraud includes a “domi-
neering management with a weak board of directors.” Briefl y explain the role of the board of directors 
and how such a situation could indicate management fraud. Why are auditors concerned with management 
fraud?

Explain the function of the audit committee and describe why it is important that it consist of outside (non-
management) directors.

One of the factors contributing to the 2008–2009 recession was the unwillingness of commercial banks 
to extend loans to customers, some of whom were quite creditworthy. This unwillingness led to what was 
called a “credit crunch.” Discuss reasons why banks would become reluctant to extend credit to customers, 
and how the fi nancial reporting system represents these loans on the banks’ fi nancial statements.

In its 2014 annual report, Home Depot reported that fi scal 2014 sales increased to $83.2 billion (from 
$78.8 billion the previous fi scal year), while profi ts increased to $6.3 billion (from $5.4 billion). Total as-
sets decreased from $40.5 billion to $39.9 billion, while shareholders’ equity during the same time period 
decreased from $12.5 billion to $9.3 billion. The company’s cash balance decreased $206 million with cash 
fl ows from operating activities (+$8.2 billion), investing activities (−$1.3 billion), and fi nancing activities 
(−$7.1 billion). Discuss possible explanations for these fi nancial results.

United Continental Holdings, the parent of United Airlines and Continental Airlines, signed contracts with 
its major creditors (mostly banks) that require the company to maintain a minimum cash balance of $3.0 
billion and a minimum ratio of cash fl ow to required payments of 1.50. Discuss why the creditors impose 
such restrictions on the airline company.

Fortune magazine ran an article titled “New Ethics or No Ethics? Questionable Behavior Is Silicon Valley’s 
Next Big Thing,” which recounts stories of Internet companies that aggressively infl ate their revenues, delay 
the recognition of expenses, and report sales that are not exactly sales. In many cases, the actions of these 
companies, while aggressive, are not in direct violation of generally accepted accounting principles. Discuss 
why companies might engage in such behavior and comment on the ethical implications.

The following quote was taken directly from the audit report written by PricewaterhouseCoopers on the 
2014 fi nancial statements of Kroger.

“In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and related consolidated statements of opera-
tions, comprehensive income, cash fl ows and changes in shareholders’ equity present fairly, in all material re-
spects, the fi nancial position of The Kroger Co. and its subsidiaries at January 31, 2015, and February 1, 2014, 
and the results of their operations and their cash fl ows for each of the three years in the period ended January 
31, 2015, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.”

Explain the meaning of the quote and the terms used in it.

In a report to its clients on the implications of the Sarbanes–Oxley Act of 2002, KPMG states that the act is 
intended to expand corporate governance, increase public confi dence in fi nancial reporting information, and 
strengthen our capital market systems.

Describe the meaning of corporate governance and how it relates to fi nancial accounting statements. Also 
comment on how Sarbanes–Oxley can achieve the intentions stated in the KPMG report.

Financial statement users

(LO 1)

ID1-1

Auditors and manage-
ment fraud

(LO 5)

ID1-2

Audit committees

(LO 5)

ID1-3

Banks, the credit 
crunch, and fi nancial 
statements

(LO 4)

ID1-4

Financial statement 
relationships

(LO 4)

ID1-5REAL DATA

Debt covenants

(LO 4)

ID1-6REAL DATA

Managing reported 
profi ts

(LO 4)

ID1-7REAL DATA

Audit report

(LO 3)

ID1-8REAL DATA

Corporate governance

(LO 5)

ID1-9REAL DATA
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In a survey conducted by two accounting professors, the Wall Street Journal reported that a number of 
high-level corporate managers indicated that they would choose investments that would boost current net 
income to meet the expectations of analysts following their companies in favor of better investments that 
produced much larger returns in the future. “To the professors’ surprise, the fi nancial offi cers were eager to 
talk about how companies would forgo projects that would give them economic gain in order to put a fi ner 
gloss on earnings.”

Comment on the ethical implications of management’s behavior.

The SEC accepts IFRS fi nancial statements from non-U.S. companies, while requiring U.S. GAAP from 
U.S. companies. Comment on the diffi culties faced by fi nancial analysts who analyze fi nancial statements to 
assess the fi nancial condition and performance of companies. Consider, for example, the plight of an analyst 
in the pharmaceutical industry who must assess and compare the fi nancial performance of giants Novartis (a 
Swiss fi rm using IFRS) and Johnson & Johnson (a U.S. fi rm using U.S. GAAP).

Distinguish managerial accounting from fi nancial accounting and describe how the information provided by 
the two systems is used differently.

You can review the Disney SEC Form 10-K by searching for “Disney Annual Report” online.

REQUIRED:

Review the 2015 SEC Form 10-K of Disney and answer the following questions:

a. Briefl y describe the operations of Disney and indicate whether it is a manufacturing, retail, or service 
company.

b. Which accounting fi rm audits Disney? Briefl y explain the contents of the audit report.
c. What dollar amounts for net income were reported in 2015, 2014, and 2013?
d. Compute Disney’s liabilities as a percent of total assets in 2015 and 2014. Did the percentage increase 

or decrease?
e. How much cash was provided by operating activities during 2015, 2014, and 2013?
f. Comment on Disney’s fi nancial performance and condition.

Ethics and accounting

(LO 5)

ID1-10REAL DATA

Global reporting 
standards

(LO 6)

ID1-11REAL DATA

Appendix 1A

(LO 1, 7)

ID1-12REAL DATA

The SEC Form 10-K of 
Disney

(LO 3)

ID1-13REAL DATA
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A Closer Look at the 

Financial Statements
CHAPTER 2

LEARNING OBJECTIVE PRACTICE

1.  Describe the balance sheet in terms 
of equity and debt capital and 
producing and operating assets.

• Equity capital
• Debt capital
• Producing assets
• Operating assets

1a.  Distinguish equity capital from debt 
capital and producing assets from 
operating assets.

1b.  Describe how equity and debt capital 
and producing and operating assets 
can be organized into a balance sheet.

2.  Explain the concept of net income, 
who owns it and what they can do 
with it.

• Net income
• Dividends
• Retained earnings

2.  Explain the generation and distribution 
of net income.

3.  Defi ne the three major activities of a 
business.

• Attracting capital (fi nancing)
• Investing capital (investing)
• Managing working capital (operating)

3.  Classify transactions into three 
categories.

4.  Describe the four fi nancial statements 
in greater detail.

• Balance sheet
• Income statement
• Statement of cash fl ows
• Statement of shareholders’ equity

4.  Match fi nancial statements with 
descriptions.

5.  Discuss how the fi nancial statements 
can be viewed as a package and 
use the package to assess fi ve 
fundamental metrics of a company’s 
performance.

• Relationships among the statements
• Operating performance
• Asset investment
• Asset fi nancing
• Cash management
• Return on shareholder investment

5a.  Identify how transactions can affect 
more than one fi nancial statement.

5b.  Assess fi ve fundamental fi nancial 
metrics.

Barnes & Noble, a well-known U.S. bookstore, has suffered through a diffi cult period—no doubt 
a vivid and scary example of how traditional bookstores have struggled in the online world of 
today. In reaction to the decision to close many stores, recent Barnes & Noble income statements 
have shown net losses, balance sheets have shown increases in the percent of total debt to total 
assets, and the statements of cash fl ows have shown drop-offs in investing activities. Interest-
ingly, despite these diffi culties, both the statements of cash fl ow and shareholders’ equity indicate 
that dividends have been paid. Financial statements sometimes tell a happy story, sometimes not 
so happy. It looks like the equity investors in the stock market noticed. During this period, the 
company’s stock price has plummeted. Indeed, the information in the fi nancial statements seems 
to matter to somebody!

In this chapter we take a closer look at the fi nancial statements. Recall that early in Chapter 1 
we told a story, starting out with you coming across a large sum of money knowing little about 
what to do with it. That led to a description of many different kinds of investments, offering dif-
ferent combinations of risk and potential return; in the end, after having reviewed a set of fi nan-
cial statements, you decided to invest in a company called Microline, managed by Martin Wagner. 
In this story you were a potential investor—you had money but didn’t know what to do with it 

1

Describe the balance 
sheet in terms of 
equity and debt 
capital and producing 
and operating assets.

LEARNING OBJECTIVE
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A Story That Builds a Set of Financial Statements 33 

so, based on information in the fi nancial statements, you chose to invest in somebody who did 
know what to do.

In this chapter we take a different perspective. We tell another story, but in this story you 
have no money. Instead, you have an idea about what to do with money, if you had it. We will 
assume that you are able to sell your idea to investors, and we will then build a set of fi nancial 
statements as you make your idea a reality. In this story you are no longer a potential investor. You 
are a manager with a fi rsthand look at building a set of fi nancial statements that shows investors 
how well you are doing.

A Story That Builds a Set of Financial Statements

Fishing and boating are fun, and your passion has always been to run a small fi shing and boating 
operation on a picturesque lake somewhere near the mountains. So, what could this place look like?

You need a small piece of land on a lake, and on that land you will have to build a pier, a 
small building with some storage capacity, and a parking lot. You plan to rent and sell small fi sh-
ing boats and fi shing equipment to your customers as well as provide some fi shing guide services. 
You will need to sell bait (worms, minnows, crickets), and your fi shing shop will have to stock 
and sell picnic and snack food and drinks as well as other incidentals that support fi shing and 
boating (e.g., life jackets, coolers, apparel). You happen to know just the place for your budding 
enterprise, and it’s available for sale! After some painstaking research, you prepare the following 
list that lays out what you need, including an estimate of what each item would cost, and a little 
extra cash just in case.

Land $200,000

Structures and fi xtures (building, pier, parking lot) 150,000

Boats and fi shing equipment for rental 40,000

Boats and fi shing equipment for sale 80,000

Food, drinks, and incidentals for sale 20,000

Extra cash 10,000

Total $500,000

You review the list—buy the land, build the structures and fi xtures, stock it with equipment 
for rental and goods for sale. Now where will the $500,000 come from?

You conclude pretty quickly that you need to fi nd an investor or group of investors—the 
same predicament that Martin Wagner and Microline faced in Chapter 1. Who out there has 
$500,000 that they are willing to invest in you and your vision of a boating and fi shing operation 
on a scenic lake? You will have to convince any potential investors that an investment in your plan 
will offer a return that compensates them for the risk they will have to face. So, you start working 
on a business plan, a document designed to show investors that your idea can create a profi t—
that is, you can sell goods (boats and fi shing equipment) and provide services (rentals and guid-
ing) for prices that exceed the expenses required to run the business. The revenues will have to 
exceed the expenses by enough to create a return for the investors that compensates them for the 
risk they have to bear.

?
After a number of years of reporting losses, in 2015 Barnes & Noble fi nally turned a 
profi t of a little over $36 million. While this profi t was certainly a step in the right direc-
tion, it provided a return to the investment made by the company’s shareholders of less 
than 3 percent. Yes, Barnes & Noble was profi table, but was it profi table enough to 

provide a reasonable return to the shareholders? Discuss.
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34  CHAPTER 2 A Closer Look at the Financial Statements

Time passes and after many meetings, business plan revisions, and additional study, you 
fi nally fi nd two investors, each willing to invest $100,000 for one-third of the ownership, leav-
ing one-third of the ownership to you. You will manage the operation and be paid a salary. To 
complete the arrangement, you issue 100 shares of stock to each owner, including yourself, 
which means that there is a total of 300 shares of stock, each representing a 1/300th owner-
ship (equity) interest in the business. At the same time, you open a checking account at your 
local bank, deposit the $200,000, and record the $200,000 receipt, labeling it as contributed 
capital because it is money contributed directly to your business by equity investors (see 
Figure 2–1).

You also make a mental note that the other two owners each own one-third of the company, 
and they have some rights that accompany their ownership—a right to have some infl uence over 
what you do as the manager, a right to receive periodic reports (fi nancial statements) from you 
about how the business is doing, and a right to one-third of any of the profi ts the business makes. 
In addition, while you are very pleased that you found investors to put up $200,000, you realize 
that you need another $300,000 to get started. Now is the time to return to your local bank to see 
if it is willing to lend your business, now owned by three people, $300,000.

The visit to the bank goes well. The loan offi cer likes your business plan and is especially 
attracted to the fact that there are two other investors, each of whom invested $100,000. The loan 
offi cer is willing to loan $300,000 to the business if all three owners sign a loan contract stating 
that (1) the business will pay an annual interest rate of 8 percent of the $300,000 ($24,000); 
(2) the loan will be paid back at the end of fi ve years; and (3) if the payments are not made, the 
bank has a right to take over the land and structures. All this sounds acceptable to you and your 
partners, so you each sign the loan contract, add $300,000 to the company’s checking account, 
and name your newly established enterprise “Gone Fishin’.”

You can now record the receipt of the $300,000 as debt capital. It is now a liability of Gone 
Fishin’. The interest payment will come due on a regular basis, and at the end of the contract, the 
$300,000 will have to be paid back unless both you and the bank agree to an extension. As Figure 
2–2 illustrates, the business now has $500,000 in cash: $200,000 contributed by the owners (con-
tributed capital) and $300,000 from a bank loan (debt capital).

The other owners now leave you to manage the business. First on the agenda is to put the 
$500,000 of capital to good use—purchase the land, build the structures and fi xtures, and buy the 
boats, fi shing equipment, and other incidentals. You get right to work, and after a couple of 
months, Gone Fishin’ is ready for business.

To keep the other two owners up-to-date you send them a chart that describes what you 
have done with the money (see Figure 2–3). You have not yet opened the business, so you have 
not yet sold anything or provided any services. You have no customers or clients at this point. But 
you have created a foundation on which to run the business.

Contributed
Capital

$200,000FIGURE 2–1 Receipt 
of contributed capital

Debt Capital
$300,000

Contributed Capital
$200,000

FIGURE 2–2 Receipt 
of contributed capital and 
debt capital
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In your report to the other owners, you describe that you invested the $200,000 of equity 
capital and the $300,000 of debt capital in two kinds of assets—producing assets and operating 
assets. The producing assets include the land ($200,000), the structures and fi xtures ($150,000), 
and the boats and fi shing equipment for rental ($40,000)—a total investment of $390,000. These 
you have labeled as producing assets because you will use them in the business to support the 
generation of revenues. You should be able to use them for a while—at least a few years before 
they will have to be replaced.

The remaining assets you have labeled as operating assets because they too will help to 
generate revenues but, unlike producing assets, you expect that they will be used up quickly and 
will have to be replaced often. The boats and fi shing equipment for sale ($80,000) as well as the 
food, drinks, and incidentals ($20,000) are all for sale, and as they are sold, they will have to be 
replaced. Hopefully, that will happen often. You also expect to need a ready cash balance 
($10,000) to cover periodic and sometimes unexpected cash needs.

Interestingly, you see that the total investment in the assets ($500,000) is exactly the same 
as the total amount of debt and equity capital ($500,000). You note that the assets represent what 
you have to work with to make this business successful, and the capital explains where those 
assets came from (60 percent from borrowing and 40 percent from equity investments). You have 
sent Gone Fishin’s balance sheet to the other owners.

Operating Assets
Cash

Assets for sale
$110,000

Producing Assets
Assets for rental

Structures & Fixtures
Land

$390,000

Debt Capital
$300,000

Assets available to generate revenues
$500,000

Where the assets came from
$500,000

Contributed Capital
$200,000

FIGURE 2–3 

A balance sheet

CONCEPT PRACTICE FOR LEARNING OBJECTIVE 1

A.  Identify the following descriptions as equity capital, debt capital, producing asset, or operating 
asset.

1. Items acquired by the manager which are expected to support the production of revenues 
over a period of time beyond the current period.

2. An investment in a company made by a creditor, normally backed by a contract that states 
an interest rate and a maturity date as well as other terms.

sa
m

ple



36  CHAPTER 2 A Closer Look at the Financial Statements

The owners seem to be satisfi ed because the balance sheet clearly lays out what assets the busi-
ness has, and how these assets have been fi nanced (i.e., where the assets came from). The next 
step is to open for business and see if customers are willing to pay more for the goods and ser-
vices you offer than it costs you to deliver them.

You hire an assistant to help you run Gone Fishin’, and much to your delight there seems 
to be a demand in your area for exactly what you offer. Over the next 12 months, a steady stream 
of customers comes through buying boats, fi shing equipment, food, and incidentals; they rent 
your boats and equipment at daily or weekly rates, and you build a respectable reputation as a 
guide because you always seem to fi nd the good fi shing holes for your clients. As far as you can 
tell, it’s been a good year.

It is time again to report back to the other two owners, who are very curious about whether 
their investment is paying off. You compile the results of your operations in the form of a basic 
income statement (Figure 2–4), and you illustrate it along with the balance sheet you sent earlier.

This format shows that during the year you used the producing and operating assets, pro-
vided by the equity and debt capital contributions, to generate $150,000 in revenues—$50,000 
from providing rentals and guiding services and $100,000 from the sale of products, including 
boats, fi shing equipment, food and drinks, and incidentals. The cost to Gone Fishin’ of the goods 
(products) sold during the year was $40,000, meaning that, on average, the sales prices for these 
items were marked up by you 2.5 times ($100,000/$40,000) over their cost. Expenses necessary 
to operate the business and generate the revenues totaled $76,000 for the year and included such 
items as your salary, your assistant’s wages, utility costs, insurance, maintenance and repairs, and 

2

Explain the concept 
of net income, who 
owns it and what they 
can do with it.

LEARNING OBJECTIVE

SOLUTION

A.

1. Producing assets

2. Debt capital

3. Equity capital

4. Operating assets

B.

Operating assets $   200

Producing assets   1,200

Total assets $1,400

Debt capital $   800

Equity capital      600

Total $1,400

3. An investment in a company made by an owner who in return has a right to infl uence how the 
company is managed as well as a right to the profi ts generated by the company in proportion 
to the owner’s ownership interest.

4. Items acquired by a manager which are expected to generate revenues during the current 
period.

B.  Arrange the following dollar amounts into a balance sheet that shows the assets at a com-
pany’s disposal that can be used to generate revenues and the sources that fi nanced those 
assets.

Equity capital $600; Debt capital $800; Producing assets $1,200; Operating assets $200 
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other miscellaneous items just to keep the operation moving. Also considered an expense is the 
interest cost associated with the $300,000 bank loan (8 percent × $300,000), and the U.S. federal 
government took its share (30 percent) of the business’s profi ts in the form of income tax, leaving 
a net income number of $7,000.

Your partners are pleased. They’ve been around for a while and know that booking a profi t 
in the fi rst year of operations is not all that common. Granted, the profi t number is not huge, only 
1.4 percent of the total assets invested ($7,000/$500,000) and only 3.5 percent of their investment 
in the business ($7,000/$200,000), but still it is a positive number. The customer base will likely 
grow in the future, and a year of experience will help you run the operation more effi ciently. They 
agree that you are off to a good start.

One of the owners did pose an interesting question, though: Where are the profi ts and what 
should be done with them? You explain that the profi ts were earned gradually during the year 
creating additional assets that you, as the manager, chose to reinvest in the business. Some could 
have gone to increase the cash balance or other operating assets (e.g., more fi shing equipment on 
the shelves waiting to be sold), some could have been invested in additional producing assets 
(e.g., an additional boat to rent), or some could have been used to pay off debt (e.g., reduce the 
$300,000 owed to the bank) or even buy out equity investors. You explain that during the year the 
cash balance increased a little and the investment in inventory (products available for sale) grew. 
You did not pay down any of the $300,000 debt obligation, and no payments were made to buy 
out owners. The profi ts, it seems, have all been reinvested in additional assets. Make no mis-
take—they are not sitting in a jar full of cash labeled “profi ts.”

You then address what should be done with the profi ts. While they are sitting in the busi-
ness right now, you remind the owners that they (and you) have a right to the profi ts and can 
choose to withdraw them. You note further that the company’s cash balance has grown from 
$10,000 at opening to $12,000, meaning that there is enough cash to pay a $7,000 dividend if the 
owners wish to withdraw all the profi ts. After some discussion, the owners decide to each with-
draw $1,000, and leave $4,000 in the business. In other words, a dividend of $3.33 per share 

Operating Assets
Cash

Assets for sale
$110,000

Producing Assets
Assets for rental

Structures & Fixtures
Land

$390,000

Debt Capital
$300,000

Balance Sheet

Less:
Cost of goods sold      40,000
Operating expenses      76,000
Interest expense      24,000
Pre-tax net income      10,000
Income tax (30%)        3,000
Net income                  $     7,000

Service revenues       $   50,000
Sales revenue               100,000
Total                           $150,000

Income Statement

Business operations

Contributed Capital
$200,000

FIGURE 2–4 Results 
of operations
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($1,000/300 shares) was declared by the owners and paid to them, leaving $4,000 of the profi ts 
in the business, as illustrated in Figure 2–5. 

Operating Assets
Cash

Assets for sale
$110,000

Producing Assets
Assets for rental

Structures & Fixtures
Land

$390,000

Debt Capital
$300,000

Balance Sheet

Less:
Cost of goods sold        40,000
Operating expenses       76,000
Interest expense     24,000
Pre-tax net income     10,000
Income tax (30%)       3,000

Net income                $    7,000

Service revenues     $  50,000
Sales revenue              100,000
Total                            150,000Increase

operating assets

Increase
producing assets

Decrease debt

Earnings reinvested
in business

Buy back equity

Increase owner
investment by $4,000

Income Statement

Business operations

$4,000

$3,000 dividend
to ownersContributed Capital

$200,000
FIGURE 2–5 What 

happens to net income?

This means that the second year of Gone Fishin’s operations will start with $4,000 more in 
assets and an additional $4,000 invested by the owners as a result of its profi table activities, 
bringing the total investment by the owners to $204,000 ($200,000 contributed capital + $4,000 
retained earnings).

CONCEPT PRACTICE FOR LEARNING OBJECTIVE

1. During 2014 Caterpillar, a world-leading manufacturer of construction and mining equipment, 
reported (dollars in billions) sales revenue = $52.1, service revenue = $3.0, expenses = 
$51.4, and dividends = 1.6. Compute the 2014 net income for Caterpillar and how much of 
the net income was allowed by the owners to remain invested in the business. 

2

SOLUTION

Sales revenue $ 52.1

Service revenue   3.0

Total revenue $ 55.1

Expenses   (51.4)

Net income $   3.7

Dividends withdrawn by shareholders     (1.6)

Amount of net income reinvested $   2.1
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Gone Fishin’s Financial Statements

Balance Sheet and Income Statement

Your record keeping throughout the year, as the manager of Gone Fishin’, established the basis 
for a complete set of fi nancial statements. Just before you began operations, your balance sheet 
listed the operating and producing assets of the company along with where they came from—
debt and equity capital. You then started operations and created an income statement as you 
earned revenues and recognized expenses, leading to a profi t for the year of $7,000.

Statement of Cash Flows

The statement of cash fl ows would contain the cash infl ows and outfl ows associated with three 
categories of business activities: operating, investing, and fi nancing. Figure 2–6 highlights the 
nature of each of these categories: operating activities (green), investing activities (blue), and 
fi nancing activities (red). Cash fl ows from operating activities would include cash collections 
from customers and clients, who bought products or services, reduced by cash payments to pur-
chase operating assets (inventories) and pay expenses (wages, utilities, repairs), including inter-
est paid on the bank loan. Cash fl ows from investing activities would include cash payments to 
purchase producing assets (land, structures, assets for rent), plus any cash receipts from selling 
these assets. Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities would include cash infl ows from borrowings 
and contributions from shareholders and cash outfl ows associated with payments to creditors 
(excluding interest) and shareholders in the form of dividend or share buybacks.

3

Defi ne the three 
major activities of a 
business.

LEARNING OBJECTIVE

FIGURE 2–6 

Operating, investing, and 
fi nancing activities

Operating Assets
Cash

Assets for sale
$110,000

Producing Assets
Assets for rental

Structures & Fixtures
Land

$390,000

Debt Capital
$300,000

Balance Sheet

Operating
Activities

Investing
Activities

Financing
Activities

Less:
Cost of goods sold       40,000
Operating expenses      76,000
Interest expense      24,000
Pre-tax net income        10,000
Income tax (30%)        3,000

Net income                $    7,000

Service revenues      $  50,000
Sales revenue              100,000
Total                             150,000Increase

operating assets

Increase
producing assets

Decrease debt

Buy back equity

Increase owner
investment by $4,000

Income Statement

Business operations

Earnings reinvested
in business

$4,000

$3,000 dividend
to ownersContributed Capital

$200,000

Statement of Shareholders’ Equity

The statement of shareholders’ equity, illustrated in red in Figure 2–7, would include the exchanges 
with the owners: contributions made directly to the business by the shareholders, reinvested earnings 
(called retained earnings), dividend payments to the shareholders, and any payments to the share-
holders to buy back their stock.
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FIGURE 2–7 Statement of shareholders’ equity

Operating Assets
Cash

Assets for sale
$110,000

Producing Assets
Assets for rental

Structures & Fixtures
Land

$390,000

Debt Capital
$300,000

Balance Sheet

Less:
Cost of goods sold      40,000
Operating expenses      76,000
Interest expense             24,000
Pre-tax net income         10,000
Income tax (30%)        3,000

Net income                $    7,000 

Service revenues      $  50,000
Sales revenue               100,000
Total                             150,000Increase

operating assets

Increase
producing assets

Decrease debt

Buy back equity

Increase owner
investment by $4,000

Income Statement

Business operations

$3,000 dividend
to ownersContributed Capital

$200,000

Earnings reinvested
in business

$4,000

CONCEPT PRACTICE FOR LEARNING OBJECTIVE

1.  During 2014, Home Depot participated in the transactions described below. Indicate for each 
transaction whether it is an operating activity, an investing activity, or a fi nancing activity.
• Home Depot issued 7 million shares of stock, receiving $122 million.
• Home Depot sold merchandise with a sales price of $83 billion.
• Home Depot recognized $16.8 billion in selling, general and administrative expense, pay-

ing cash for most of it.
• Home Depot paid $1.44 billion mostly to acquire new stores.
• Home Depot paid dividends to its owners of $2.5 billion.
• Home Depot paid $200 million to acquire new business.
• Home Depot paid $7 billion to buy back its previously issued stock.

3

SOLUTION

• Financing activity
• Operating activity
• Operating activity
• Investing activity
• Financing activity
• Investing activity
• Financing activity
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The Classified Balance Sheet

Figure 2–8 is a balance sheet for Harbour Island Company as of December 31, 2016. It is entitled a 
classifi ed balance sheet because the asset and liability accounts are grouped into classifi cations: 
current assets, long-term investments, long-lived assets, current liabilities, and long-term liabilities.

4

Describe the four 
fi nancial statements 
in greater detail.

LEARNING OBJECTIVE

Harbour Island Company

Classifi ed Balance Sheet

December 31, 2016

ASSETS

Current assets

 Cash $   220

 Short-term investments 150

 Accounts receivable $    350

 Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts          (5) 345

 Inventory 600

 Prepaid expenses      100

  Total current assets $  1,415

Long-term investments

 Notes receivable $1,000

 Land 500

 Investments   2,500

  Total long-term investments 4,000

Long-lived assets

 Property 6,000

 Plant and equipment 7,500

 Intangible assets 2,100

 Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization   (2,400)   7,200

  Total long-lived assets   13,200

Total assets $18,615

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities

 Accounts payable $   250

 Salaries and wages payable 25

 Interest payable 155

 Short-term notes payable 75

 Current maturities of long-term debts 60

 Unearned revenues 75

 Other payables      100

  Total current liabilities $     740

Long-term liabilities

 Long-term notes payable $1,500

 Bonds payable   5,440

  Total long-term liabilities 6,940

Shareholders’ equity

 Common stock $9,900

 Retained earnings 1,385

 Less: Treasury stock     (350)

  Total shareholders’ equity   10,935

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $18,615
FIGURE 2–8
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A Photograph of Financial Condition

Think of the balance sheet as a photograph of the business at a specifi c point in time. The title 
includes a specifi c date (December 31, 2016). As of this date, the balance sheet measures the 
fi nancial condition of Harbour Island Company. In fact, some companies refer to the balance 
sheet as the statement of fi nancial condition. This “photograph” of fi nancial condition shows that 
as of December 31, 2016, Harbour Island has total assets of $18,615 comprised of current assets 
($1,415), long-term investments ($4,000), and long-lived assets ($13,200). The sources of these 
assets are current liabilities ($740), long-term liabilities ($6,940), common stock ($9,900), and 
retained earnings ($1,385), reduced by $350 in an account called treasury stock, which refl ects 
purchases by the company of its own previously issued outstanding stock.

Liquidity on the Balance Sheet

The assets on the balance sheet are divided into categories, and both the categories and the 
accounts within them are ordered on the basis of liquidity. The assets near the top of the balance 
sheet and the top of each category are expected to be converted into cash within a shorter time 
period than those listed at or near the bottom. They are considered to be more liquid. Current 
assets represent the most liquid assets with cash, the most liquid of all assets, understandably 
listed at the top.

The same is true of the liability categories and the order of the liability accounts. Current 
liabilities are expected to result in cash payments sooner than long-term liabilities and accounts 
payable is expected to result in a cash payment sooner than any of the others.

Current Assets

Assets categorized as current are expected to be realized or, in most cases, converted into cash in 
the near future, usually within one year.1 They are grouped into a separate category because they 
are considered to be highly liquid. Current assets include cash, short-term investments, accounts 
receivable, inventory, and prepaid expenses.

1 The actual defi nition of “current asset” is an asset expected to be converted into cash or used within one year or the operating 
cycle, whichever is longer. Operating cycles are discussed later in the text.

Many non-U.S. companies that publish IFRS-based balance sheets list their assets in the 
opposite order, starting with noncurrent assets followed by current assets.

Over 68 percent of Boeing’s total assets are classifi ed as current.

As of December 31, 2014, The Boeing Company, the largest airplane manufacturer in 
the world, reported almost $100 billion in total assets, over 90 percent of which were 
fi nanced by debt!
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Cash 

Cash represents the currency a company has access to as of the balance sheet date. It may be in a bank 
savings account, a checking account, or perhaps on the company premises in the form of petty cash.

Short-Term Investments 

Short-term investments include stocks (equity investments in other companies), bonds (debt invest-
ments in the government or other companies), and similar investments. These securities are both read-
ily marketable (i.e., able to be sold immediately) and intended by management to be sold within a 
short period of time, usually less than one year. A company often purchases these kinds of securities 
to earn income with cash that would otherwise be idle for a short time. The dollar value of this account 
is the total selling price (market value) of securities held by a company as of the balance sheet date. 

Accounts Receivable 

The accounts receivable account represents the amount of money a company expects to collect 
from its customers. Such receivables arise from sales of products or services for which customers 
have not yet paid. These sales are often referred to as credit sales or sales on account. The dollar 
amount appearing on the balance sheet for this account is computed by taking the total dollar 
amount of the receivables owed and subtracting an estimate for uncollectibles or doubtful 
accounts, accounts not expected to be collected.

Inventory 

Inventory represents items or products on hand that a company intends to sell to its customers. It is 
often called merchandise inventory. The balance sheet value of inventory is the cost of acquiring 
(purchasing or producing) it or the cost of replacing it as of the balance sheet date, whichever is lower.2

2 For short-term investments, how to record these assets at market value will be discussed in Chapter 9; for accounts receivable, 
how to record uncollectible amounts will be discussed in Chapter 6; and for inventory, how to record these assets at the lower of 
cost or replacement cost will be discussed in Chapter 7.

Prepaid Expenses 

Prepaid expenses are exactly what the name suggests: expenses that have been paid by a com-
pany before the corresponding services or rights are actually used. Insurance premiums, for 
example, are normally paid prior to the period of coverage. Rent is usually paid before the rental 
period. A prepaid expense, therefore, is considered an asset because it represents a benefi t to be 
enjoyed by the company in the future; it is not considered an expense. It appears on the balance 
sheet until it is used, at which time it is converted to an expense and matched against the revenues 
it helped to generate on the income statement. Prepaid expenses are originally recorded on the 
balance sheet at the cost of acquiring them. 

A second kind of inventory account is called supplies inventory. It represents items used to 
support a company’s operations; offi ce supplies and spare parts are two common examples. The 
dollar amount of this account on the balance sheet is usually the cost of acquiring the items. 
Major manufacturers often carry a substantial inventory of spare parts.

Inventory is Boeing’s primary current asset, comprising over 60 percent, followed by 
cash, accounts receivable, and short-term investments.

Normally about 10 percent of The Boeing Company’s total inventory is composed of 
spare parts.
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Long-Term Investments

Long-term investments are acquired by companies to provide benefi ts for periods of time 
extending beyond one year. Examples include long-term notes receivable and investments in land 
and debt and equity securities.

The notes receivable account includes company receivables that are backed by promissory 
notes. Promissory notes are contracts (formal, legally enforceable documents) that state the face 
value of the receivable, the date when the face value is due, and the periodic interest payments to 
be made while the note is outstanding. The date when the receivable is due, called the maturity 
date, is often beyond one year, so this account is often listed in the long-term investment section 
of the balance sheet. However, if the maturity date of a note receivable is within one year, it 
should be included as a current asset. Like accounts receivable, an estimate—often subjective—
for doubtful accounts must be provided for notes receivable.

The long-term investment section of the balance sheet can also include a number of other 
investments. Land, for example, may be purchased and held as a long-term investment. Invest-
ments in debt and equity securities that are not intended to be sold in the near future represent 
other common examples. Most major U.S. companies have made signifi cant investments in the 
equity securities of other, usually smaller, companies, intending to exert long-term infl uence over 
their management. 

Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets include property, plant, and equipment and intangible assets. This section of 
the balance sheet includes assets acquired for use in the day-to-day operations of the business, 
and they are called “long-lived” because they are expected to support the generation of revenues 
for a period of time beyond the current one. Earlier in this chapter we referred to these as produc-
ing assets.

The property account represents the land on which the company conducts its operations. 
It is carried on the balance sheet at the original cost of the land, which is not adjusted as the value 
of the property appreciates (i.e., increases). Be sure not to confuse this account with land in the 
long-term investment section. That land is held for investment purposes only and is not used in 
the operations of the business.

Plant and equipment represent the physical structures that a company owns and uses in 
its operations. The plant account, for example, includes the cost of factories, offi ce buildings, 
stores and warehouses, while the equipment account includes machinery, vehicles, furniture, and 
similar items. The dollar amount in these accounts on the balance sheet is the original cost at the 
time the assets were purchased, reduced by an amount that loosely approximates the asset’s lost 
usefulness or deterioration over time. This amount is called accumulated depreciation. Subtract-
ing accumulated depreciation from the acquisition cost results in the net value or net book value 
of the assets.

Intangible assets are so named because they have no physical substance. In most cases, they 
represent legal rights to the use or sale of valuable names, items, processes, or information. Many 
companies, such as Coca-Cola, have patents on certain formulas that grant them the sole legal right 
to produce and sell certain products. Pharmaceuticals (like Merck or Pfi zer) make huge investments 

Boeing carries over $3 billion of notes receivable on its balance sheet, mostly from major 
airlines that have purchased Boeing airplanes and are making payments over time. The 
company also has over $1 billion in investments in equity securities, most of which 

refers to a 50 percent ownership interest in a company called United Launch Alliance.sa
m

ple



The Classifi ed Balance Sheet 45 

to acquire patents that give them exclusive rights to manufacture and sell certain drugs. In a similar 
way, the cost a company incurs to acquire a trademark (e.g., the golden arches of McDonald’s) or 
its name brand (e.g., Google) can also be accounted for as an intangible asset.

Perhaps the most common intangible asset is goodwill, which represents the cost of pur-
chasing another company over and above the total market price of that company’s individual 
assets and liabilities. The goodwill account is prominent on the balance sheets of many major 
U.S. companies because they often grow by purchasing other companies, called subsidiaries.

When acquired, intangible assets are recorded on the balance sheet at cost. While in use, some 
intangible assets are subject to amortization over their useful lives, much like the plant and equip-
ment account is subject to depreciation. These intangible assets are carried on the balance sheet at net 
book value—the original cost less the accumulated amortization. Other intangible assets, like good-
will, are not subject to amortization because they do not have a determinable useful life.

Current Liabilities

Current liabilities are obligations expected to be paid (or services expected to be performed) 
with the use of assets listed in the current asset section of the balance sheet. Examples include 
accounts payable, wages payable, interest payable, short-term notes payable, income taxes pay-
able, current maturities of long-term debts, and unearned revenues (sometimes called deferred 
revenue).

Accounts payable are usually obligations to a company’s suppliers for merchandise pur-
chases made on account. Salaries and wages payable are obligations to a company’s employees 
for earned but unpaid salaries and wages as of the balance sheet date. Interest payable and short-
term notes payable are dollar amounts owed to creditors, often banks and other fi nancial institu-
tions. Income taxes payable are amounts owed to the government for taxes assessed on a com-
pany’s income. Current maturities of long-term debts are portions of long-term liabilities that 
are due in the current period. They often arise when the principal amounts of long-term liabilities 
are due in installments over time. Unearned revenues represent services yet to be performed by a 
company for which cash payments have already been collected.

Long-Term Liabilities

Long-term liabilities are obligations expected to require payment over a period of time beyond 
the current year. These obligations are usually evidenced by formal contracts that state their prin-
cipal amounts, the periodic interest payments, and maturity dates. The form of these debt con-
tracts, however, can vary widely. Common examples include accounts like long-term notes pay-
able and bonds payable.

Long-term notes payable refer to obligations on loans that are normally due more than one 
year beyond the balance sheet date. They usually involve either direct borrowings from fi nancial 

Many non-U.S. companies that publish IFRS-based balance sheets list current liabilities 
directly below current assets, leading to the computation of net current assets or what 
many call working capital (current assets − current liabilities). This format emphasizes 
the point that management should manage current assets and current liabilities together.

Long-lived assets on Boeing’s balance sheet, split about evenly between property, plant, 
and equipment and intangible assets, total approximately $22 billion, which represents 
about 22 percent of total assets. The largest intangible asset is goodwill at a little over 

$5 billion.
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institutions or arrangements to fi nance the purchase of assets. Bonds payable represent notes 
that have been issued for cash to a large number of debt investors (called bondholders).

Shareholders’ Equity

The shareholders’ equity section of the balance sheet consists of common stock, retained earn-
ings, and treasury stock. Referring to Figure 2–8, common stock ($9,900) represents investments 
contributed by the owners when they have purchased common stock issued by the company. Such 
contributions by the owners are often called contributed capital. Retained earnings ($1,385) rep-
resent investments made by the owners by not exercising their right to withdraw via dividends 
prior net income amounts, allowing these profi ts to remain in the company. Treasury stock 
(−$350) represents the dollar amount paid by the company to purchase previously issued com-
mon stock. This amount is negative because such purchases reduce the investment made by the 
owners. The total amount of shareholders’ equity ($10,935) represents the dollar amount invested 
in the company by Harbour Island’s owners as of December 31, 2016. It is also equal to total 
assets ($18,615) less total liabilities ($7,680), and when viewed in this way is referred to as the 
net book value of the company.

The Income Statement

The income statement, sometimes called the statement of operations, measures operating per-
formance over a particular period—the activities associated with the acquisition and sale of the 
company’s inventories or services. An example for the Harbour Island Company, covering the 
year ended December 31, 2016, is illustrated in Figure 2–9. It consists of three categories: 
operating revenues ($5,400), operating expenses ($3,895), and nonoperating revenues and 
expenses (−$20). The net amount of these three numbers less income for expense yields a 
number called net income or loss, net earnings, or profi ts ($1,085). Most analysts, investors, 
creditors, and managers agree that net income is the most important number disclosed on the 
fi nancial statements because it represents the company’s ability to sell its products and services 
for more than it costs to provide them.

Operating Revenues

Operating revenues represent the infl ow of assets (or decrease in liabilities) due to a company’s 
operating activities over a period of time. Examples include sales and service revenues (some-
times called fees earned). The ability to generate operating revenues is often viewed as one of the 
important keys to success for a company.

Current liabilities on Boeing’s 2014 balance sheet are over $57 billion, well over half of 
Boeing’s $99 billion total asset number. Long-term debt, including notes and bonds, is 
about $33 billion.

As of December 31, 2014, the investment made in Boeing by its shareholders was $8.6 
billion, which also is equal to Boeing’s net book value.

For 2014 Boeing reported net income of $5.4 billion on revenues of $90.8 billion.
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Sales or sales revenue is perhaps the most common revenue account. It represents a measure of 
asset increases (usually in the form of cash or accounts receivable) due to selling a company’s 
products or inventories. If a company provides a service (e.g., a law fi rm or accounting fi rm) 
instead of selling a product, the revenue account refl ecting such activity is called fees earned or 
service revenue.

Harbour Island Company

Income Statement 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2016

Operating revenues

 Sales revenue $4,100

 Service revenue 1,300

  Total operating revenues $5,400

Less: Operating expenses

 Cost of goods sold $1,500

 Salaries and wages 1,000

 Rent 295

 Selling and administrative 300

 Depreciation and amortization 800

  Total operating expenses  (3,895)

Operating income $1,505

Nonoperating revenues and expenses

 Nonoperating revenues $   880

 Less: Interest expenses 900

  Net nonoperating revenues and expenses (20)

Net income before taxes $1,485

Income tax expense (400)

Net income $1,085
FIGURE 2–9

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses represent the periodic and usual outfl ow of assets (or creation of liabilities) 
required to generate operating revenues. Examples include cost of goods sold and expenses 
related to wages, rent, selling, depreciation, and amortization. 

The cost of goods sold account represents the original cost of the inventory items (pur-
chase price or cost of manufacturing) that are sold to generate sales revenue. For retail and man-
ufacturing companies, this inventory expense is normally separated from other operating expenses 

Of Boeing’s $90.8 billion in 2014 revenue, 89 percent came from sales of products and 
11 percent from providing services.

Many non-U.S. companies, especially in Europe, use the term turnover instead of 
revenue.
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because it is comparatively large, and it is often compared to sales revenue to indicate the rela-
tionship between the selling price of the inventory and its cost.

 The remaining operating expenses differ based on the nature of a company’s operations. 
For retailing companies, which simply purchase fi nished goods and then sell them (e.g., Walmart), 
this expense category contains accounts refl ecting the decrease in assets (or creation of liabilities) 
due to such items as commissions to salespersons, salaries, wages, insurance, advertising, rentals, 
utilities, property taxes, and equipment maintenance. Manufacturing companies, on the other 
hand (e.g., General Motors), typically include only selling and administrative expenses in this 
category because cost of goods sold normally includes costs that retailers consider operating 
expenses. Note from the expenses listed on the income statement in Figure 2–9 that Harbour 
Island Company is a retailer.

A common expense item that we will address in detail later is called depreciation or 
amortization. It represents an estimate of the extent to which plant and equipment (depreciation) 
and intangible assets (amortization) are being used up each year. The idea is that these assets help 
to generate revenues over more than one year, and to measure net income we should match the 
cost of these assets against the revenues as the revenues are generated over the asset’s useful life. 
Depreciation and amortization expense refl ect that cost on the income statement.

Operating revenues ($5,400) less operating expenses ($3,895) leads to operating income 
($1,505), which is different from net income before taxes ($1,485). Operating income is often 
viewed as a more useful measure of performance because operating revenues and expenses refer 
to the normal and recurring core operating activities of the business. Net income before tax, on 
the other hand, includes items, discussed in the next section, that are either infrequent or not 
related to the main core activities of the business. Finally, because Harbour Island is a corpora-
tion, it is subject to corporate income taxes ($400), which are subtracted from net income before 
tax in the computation of “bottom-line” net income ($1,085).

Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses

The category nonoperating revenues and expenses can include a number of items. It usually con-
tains revenues and expenses from activities not central to a company’s operations; therefore, the 
dollar amount of this category is also usually small. Nonoperating revenues often include interest 
on bank accounts, rent collected on the rental of excess warehouse space, and book gains recog-
nized when assets are sold for amounts that exceed those costs. Nonoperating expenses include 
interest on outstanding loans and book losses recognized when assets other than inventory are 
sold for amounts that are less than their original costs.

In 2014, Boeing’s cost of goods sold was 85 percent of its sales revenue.

During 2014, Boeing booked $1.9 billion of depreciation and amortization expense.

For Boeing during 2014, the only signifi cant nonoperating item was interest expense, 
which approximated $330 million, an amount quite small compared to Boeing’s net 
income before income taxes of over $7 billion.
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The Statement of Cash Flows

The statement of cash fl ows is a summary of the activity in a company’s cash account over a period 
of time. Understanding it is simply a matter of recognizing that certain transactions entered into by 
a company during a given period increase the cash account, while others decrease it. The statement 
summarizes these transactions and, in the process, explains how the cash balance at the beginning 
of the period came to be the cash balance at the end of the period. The statement of cash fl ows for 
Harbour Island Company for the year ended December 31, 2016, appears in Figure 2–10.

Harbour Island Company

Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended December 31, 2016

Operating activities

 Cash collections from sales of goods $4,800

 Cash collections from provision of services 800

 Cash collected from interest 10

 Less:

 Cash paid to suppliers $1,800

 Cash paid to employees 1,050

 Cash paid for rent 290

 Cash paid for selling activities 300

 Cash paid for interest and taxes      700

  Net cash from operating activities $ 1,470

Investing activities

 Cash paid for investment securities $  (100)

 Cash paid to purchase property (4,500)

 Cash collections from selling investment securities      500

  Net cash used by investing activities (4,100)

Financing activities

 Cash received from short-term borrowing $   350

 Cash paid to reduce long-term debt (400)

 Cash collections from issuing equity 3,100

 Cash paid to repurchase outstanding stock (100)

 Cash paid to shareholders for dividends     (200)

  Net cash from fi nancing activities    2,750

Increase in cash $    120

Cash balance at beginning of year (January 1, 2016)       100

Cash balance at end of year (December 31, 2016) $    220
FIGURE 2–10

The statement of cash fl ows is divided into three categories: (1) operating activities, 
(2) investing activities, and (3) fi nancing activities. The transactions summarized within each of 
these three categories either increased or decreased cash during the period and the net result of 
the three totals explains the change in a company’s overall cash balance. For example, on Harbour 
Island’s cash fl ow statement, operating activities increased cash by $1,470, investment activities 
decreased cash by $4,100, and fi nancing activities increased cash by $2,750. The net result was 
an increase in cash of $120 ($1,470 − $4,100 + $2,750), which boosted the cash balance from 
$100 at the beginning of 2016 to $220 at the end.
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Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash fl ows from operating activities include those cash infl ows and outfl ows associated with the 
acquisition and sale of a company’s products and services. The items found in this section are 
closely related to the revenues and expenses found on the income statement because both mea-
sure operating infl ows and outfl ows. However, the dollar amounts of these items on the statement 
of cash fl ows do not necessarily agree with the dollar amounts appearing for these items on the 
income statement. The statement of cash fl ows records only cash infl ows and outfl ows; the 
income statement consists of revenues and expenses, which are not the same as cash infl ows and 
outfl ows (to be discussed later). Harbour Island, for example, reported net income of $1,085 but 
net cash from operations of $1,470.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash fl ows from investing activities include the cash infl ows and outfl ows associated with the 
purchase and sale of a company’s producing assets, including investments and long-lived assets. 
Cash effects from the purchase or sale of a company’s investments in securities or property, plant, 
and equipment are common examples. Figure 2–10 shows that Harbour Island used $100 and 
$4,500 to purchase long-term investment securities and property, respectively. It also generated 
$500 in cash by selling long-term investments. These transactions in total reduced Harbour 
Island’s cash balance by $4,100.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities include the cash infl ows and outfl ows associated with a 
company’s two sources of outside capital: liabilities and owner investments. Cash proceeds from 
and cash principal payments on short- and long-term liabilities are refl ected in this section of the 
statement of cash fl ows. As indicated in Figure 2–10, Harbour Island borrowed additional short-
term debt of $350 during 2016 and made cash principal payments on long-term debt ($400). 
Harbour Island also collected $3,100 in cash from issuing (selling) equity to shareholders, spent 
$100 to purchase some of its outstanding shares of common stock from shareholders, and paid 
cash dividends of $200 to its shareholders.

The Statement of Shareholders’ Equity

The statement of shareholders’ equity, illustrated for Harbour Island in Figure 2–11, explains 
the changes in the shareholders’ equity accounts over a period. It represents a summary of the 
activity in the accounts that keep track of the shareholders’ investment in the company. The 

During 2014, Boeing’s statement of cash fl ows indicates that its cash balance increased 
by $2.6 billion, from $9.1 billion at the beginning of 2014 to $11.7 billion at the end of 
2014.

During 2014, Boeing generated almost $8.8 billion in cash from operating activities, 
added another $2.4 billion in cash from investing activities (boosted by a large sale of 
investments), and spent about $8.6 billion in cash through its fi nancing activities (attributed 

mostly to large treasury stock purchases and a hefty dividend payment to its shareholders). 
These activities account for the $2.6 billion cash increase reported earlier.
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shareholders’ investment increases when capital is collected from the sale (issuance) of equity 
securities (contributed capital) and when profi ts, which belong to the shareholders, are rein-
vested in the business (retained earnings). Dividends paid to the shareholders and treasury 
stock purchases from the shareholders reduce their investment in the company. The beginning 
dollar balances, which come from the December 31, 2015, balance sheet, are adjusted for the 
activity during 2016 leading to the ending dollar balances, which appear on the December 31, 
2016, balance sheet. During 2016, Harbour Island collected $3,100 from common stock 
issuances, recorded net income of $1,085, paid dividends of $200, and purchased $100 in 
treasury stock.

CONCEPT PRACTICE FOR LEARNING OBJECTIVE

Match the four fi nancial statements with the descriptions below.

Balance sheet; Income statement; Statement of cash fl ows; Statement of shareholders’ 
equity

1. This statement provides a measure of the company’s performance by indicating the extent 
to which it can sell its good and services for prices that exceed the costs of providing them.

2. This statement keeps track of changes in the investments made by the company’s owners 
in the company.

3. This statement distinguishes the core activities of a business from activities that are either 
unusual or infrequent.

4. This statement lists the resources that management can use to generate revenues and how 
these resources have been fi nanced.

5. This statement distinguishes current obligations from obligations requiring payment farther 
into the future.

6. This statement is divided into three categories based on the company’s operating, investing, 
and fi nancing activities.

7. This statement shows what portion of the profi ts in a given year have been retained in the 
business and not paid to the shareholders in the form of dividends.

8. This statement explains the change in a company’s cash balance during a given year.

4

FIGURE 2–11

Harbour Island Company

Statement of Shareholders’ Equity

For Year Ended December 31, 2016

Common Stock Retained Earnings Treasury Stock Total

December 31, 2015 $6,800 $   500 (250) $  7,050

Net income   1,085     1,085

Less: Dividends      (200)        (200)

Issuance of equity   3,100     3,100

Purchased treasury stock (100)        (100)

December 31, 2016 $9,900 $1,385 (350) $10,935

During 2014, the investment in Boeing by its shareholders decreased from almost 
$15 billion to less than $9 billion. The two major reasons for the decrease were a large 
dividend and a very large treasury stock purchase.sa
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Financial Statements As a Package and 

Five Fundamental Performance Metrics

Figure 2–12 presents a general overview of the four fi nancial accounting statements for Harbour 
Island Company with a special emphasis on how they relate to one another and form a package 
for fi nancial analysis. Take some time to study it.

Note the four statements: a balance sheet at the end of 2015 (left side), statements of cash 
fl ow, income, and shareholders’ equity covering 2016 (middle), and a balance sheet at the end of 
2016 (right side). See Figures 2–8 through 2–11 for the details of 2016 statements. This format 
illustrates how the three statements in the middle (cash fl ows, income, and shareholders’ equity) 
explain how the balance sheet at the beginning of 2016 became the balance sheet at the end of 
2016; that is, how Harbour Island’s fi nancial condition at the beginning of 2016 became its fi nan-
cial condition at the end of 2016, explained in terms of cash management, operating perfor-
mance, and shareholder investments in the company.

The statement of cash fl ows explains the activity during the year in the company’s cash 
account. At the beginning of 2016, the balance in the cash account was $100. During the year, 
management engaged in operating, investing, and fi nancing transactions that affected the cash 
balance, and the end result was $220. The statement of cash fl ows explains how the $100 cash 
balance on the 2015 balance sheet grew to the $220 cash balance on the 2016 balance sheet.

5

Discuss how the 
fi nancial statements 
can be viewed as a 
package and use the 
package to assess fi ve 
fundamental metrics 
of a company’s 
performance.

LEARNING OBJECTIVE

SOLUTION

1. Income statement
2. Statement of shareholders’ equity
3. Income statement
4. Balance sheet
5. Balance sheet
6. Statement of cash fl ows
7. Statement of shareholders’ equity
8. Statement of cash fl ows

?
In its 2014 annual report, Zimmer Holdings, Inc., a well-known medical parts manufac-
turer, reported cash provided by operating activities of over $1.0 billion, cash used by 
investing activities of $469.4 million, and cash used for fi nancing activities of $562.4 mil-
lion. Describe some of the transactions that led to each of these three cash fl ow numbers.

The statement of shareholders’ equity, like the statement of cash fl ows, also explains the 
activity in balance sheet accounts during 2016. In this case the accounts are common stock, 
retained earnings, and treasury stock, which appear in the shareholders’ equity section of each 
balance sheet. During the year, transactions with the shareholders concerning their investment in 
Harbour Island explain the changes in these accounts from the beginning to the ending balance 
sheets. Note also that the $3,100 equity issuance, the $200 dividend, and the $100 treasury stock 
purchase all involve cash and, therefore, appear not only in the statement of shareholders’ equity 
but also in the fi nancing section of the statement of cash fl ows.

?
Johnson & Johnson consistently pays signifi cant dividends to its shareholders—nor-
mally on the order of 30 to 40 percent of net income. How would this be reported on the 
fi nancial statements, and what portion of earnings is normally reinvested in the business?
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54  CHAPTER 2 A Closer Look at the Financial Statements

The income statement contains revenues and expenses, leading to the $1,085 net income, 
which is also refl ected in the statement of shareholders’ equity because it belongs to the share-
holders and, therefore, increases their investment in the company. The $200 dividend, a with-
drawal by the shareholders, decreases the shareholder investment, and the difference between the 
$1,085 net income and the $200 dividend represents the $885 increase in the retained earnings 
account; the fi nal retained earnings balance ($1,385) appears on the 2016 balance sheet.

? After three years as a well-known, publicly traded company, Amazon.com reported a 
defi cit in retained earnings of over $800 million. Explain how this could have occurred.

The major point here is that all four fi nancial statements are interrelated. Transactions 
entered into by a company always affect at least two of the statements and sometimes all four. 
Understanding these interrelationships will really help you as we move forward in this textbook.

Using the Financial Statement Package to Compute 

Five Fundamental Metrics of Performance

Financial statements analysis involves using the fi nancial statements to assess a company’s fi nan-
cial performance. Such analysis can be quite extensive and we tackle it in more detail in Chapter 
5. In the meantime, however, we introduce fi nancial analysis in this section by using the fi nancial 
statement package in Figure 2–12 to address fi ve fundamental and important questions about 
Harbour Island’s fi nancial performance.

1. How profi table was Harbour Island?

Companies must be profi table to succeed. They must be able to consistently sell their goods and 
services at prices that exceed the costs of providing them. Revenues must consistently exceed 
expenses, providing profi ts for the shareholders. Harbour Island’s income statement, which 
shows net income of $1,085, indicates that it was profi table in 2016, and the retained earnings 
balances on the two balance sheets and statement of shareholder’ equity indicate that Harbour 
Island’s past profi ts have served as a source of fi nancing its investment in assets.

2. How large an investment in assets was required to make those profi ts?

Successful companies not only make profi ts, but they do so without requiring too large an invest-
ment in assets. Making $1 of profi t on an asset investment of $1,000 is not nearly as desirable as 
making $1 of profi t on an asset investment of $10. Assets have to be fi nanced at a cost, and effi -
cient companies manage their assets to produce as much profi t as possible.

At the beginning of 2016, Harbour Island’s balance sheet indicates that the company had 
invested $15,400 in its assets, which grew during 2016 to $18,615. Consequently, on average, 
Harbour Island carried an asset investment of $17,008 [($15,400 + $18,615)�2] during the year. 
This asset investment was managed to earn $1,085 in profi t, leading to a return on assets of 
6.4 percent ($1,085�$17,008) for 2016.

Under IFRS, the requirement for a complete set of fi nancial statements (balance sheet, 
income statement, statement of cash fl ows, and statement of shareholders’ equity) is 
very similar to that under U.S. GAAP.
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3. Where did the assets come from, or how were they fi nanced?

Asset investments must be paid for, and there are two basic ways to pay for them: money bor-
rowed from creditors (debt) or investments made by the shareholders (equity). At the beginning 
of 2016, Harbour Island’s balance sheet indicates that 54.2 percent of its assets were fi nanced 
with debt or liabilities [($900 + $7,450)�$15,400], which means that 45.8 percent of the assets 
[($6,800 + $500 − 250)�$15,400] must have been fi nanced with equity (shareholder investments). 
By the end of 2016, the reliance on debt as a source of fi nancing the assets decreased to 41.3 
percent [($740 + $6,940)�$18,615], and the reliance on equity increased to 58.7 percent [($9,900 +
$1,385 − $350)�$18,615]. Note that the primary reasons for the shift in favor of equity as a 
source of fi nancing was the $3,100 equity issuance, followed by $885 ($1,085 − $200) of rein-
vested profi ts, both of which are forms of equity fi nancing.

4. How much cash did Harbour Island generate through its operating activities and how was 
it managed?

Harbour Island’s statement of cash fl ows shows that during 2016 the company generated a net 
amount of $1,470 in cash from the sale of its good and services. It also raised a net amount of 
$2,750 from its fi nancing activities—the $3,100 equity plus $350 from short-term debt less pay-
ments to reduce debt ($400), pay dividends ($200), and purchase treasury stock ($100). Most of 
this cash was used to invest in property ($4,100), leading to a $120 increase in the company’s 
cash balance.

5. What happened to the investment made by the shareholders and how large a return was 
generated for the shareholders on that investment?

The statement of shareholders’ equity tells us that the investment made by Harbour Island’s share-
holders increased from $7,050 at the end of 2015 to $10,935 at the end of 2016. The equity issu-
ance ($3,100) and net income ($1,085) increased this investment, while the dividends ($200) and 
treasury stock purchase ($100) decreased it. Consequently, on average, the shareholders carried an 
investment in the company of $8,993 [($7,050 + $10,935)�2] during the year. The $1,085 net 
income amount, which belongs to the shareholders, creates a return on the shareholders’ invest-
ment (return on equity) of 12.1 percent ($1,085�$8,993) for 2016.

CONCEPT PRACTICE FOR LEARNING OBJECTIVE

A. Choose the best response.
1. Which fi nancial statements are immediately affected when a company completes a service 

for a customer and at that time receives cash payment?
a. The income statement only
b. The balance sheet only
c. The income statement, balance sheet, and statement of cash fl ows
d. All four fi nancial statements

2. Which fi nancial statements are immediately affected when a company pays off a loan to the 
bank?
a. The income statement and the balance sheet
b. The income statement, balance sheet, and statement of shareholders’ equity
c. The balance sheet and statement of cash fl ows
d. All four fi nancial statements

3. Which fi nancial statements are immediately affected when a company issues stock and 
receives cash from the shareholders?
a. The income statement and the balance sheet
b. The income statement, balance sheet, and statement of cash fl ows
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56  CHAPTER 2 A Closer Look at the Financial Statements

c. The balance sheet, statement of cash fl ows, and statement of shareholders’ equity
d. All four fi nancial statements

B. The following information was taken from the 2014 fi nancial statements of Alphabet, the 
holding company that contains Google (dollars in billions). Use this information to answer the 
fi ve fundamental questions of fi nancial analysis.

2014 2013

Income statement:

 Net income $    2,692

Balance sheet:

 Total assets 131,133 $110,920

 Total shareholders’ equity 105,500 87,309

Statement of cash fl ows:

 Net cash from operating activities 16,619

 Net cash from investing activities (13,056)

 Net cash from fi nancing activities 1,229

Statement of shareholders’ equity

 Issuance of common stock 465

 Dividends 0

SOLUTION

A.
1.  d. All four fi nancial statements. When a company completes a service for a customer, it 

recognizes revenue, which is refl ected on the income statement. This affects net income, 
which increases the investment made by the shareholders, is recorded on the statement 
of shareholders’ equity and increases retained earnings, and is refl ected on the balance 
sheet. The cash receipt affects both the balance sheet cash account and increases cash 
from operating activities on the statement of cash fl ows.

2.  c. The balance sheet and statement of cash fl ows. When a company uses cash to pay off 
a loan, the cash balance and a liability on the balance sheet are decreased. Cash fl ows 
from fi nancing activities on the statement of cash fl ows are also decreased.

3.  c. The balance sheet, statement of cash fl ows, and statement of shareholders’ equity. 
When cash is received from an equity issuance, the cash balance and the common stock 
account on the balance sheet are increased. The equity issuance is also an increase in 
the shareholders’ investment, refl ected on the statement of shareholders’ equity, and an 
increase to cash from fi nancing activities on the statement of cash fl ows.

B.
1. Alphabet generated net income or profi ts during 2014 of $2,692.
2. The return on assets for 2014 was 2.2 percent [$2,692�($131,133 + $110,920)�2].
3. As of 2013, 78.7 percent ($87,309�$110,920) of the assets were fi nanced by equity, grow-

ing to 80.5 percent ($105,500�$131,133) as of the end of 2014.
4. An amount of $16,619 in cash was generated through Alphabet’s operating activities, 

which more than covered Alphabet’s investment in producing assets ($13,056). It also 
increased its cash balance by collecting a net of $1,229 from its capital providers, in-
creasing its ending cash balance by almost $5 trillion.

5. The return during 2014 to Alphabet’s shareholders on their investment was 2.8 percent 
[$2,692�($105,500 + $87,309)�2].
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APPENDIX 2A

Organizational Form and the Equity Section

A business entity in the United States can be legally organized in either of two basic ways: as a 
corporation or as a partnership (called a proprietorship if there is only one owner).3 A corpora-
tion is a legal entity that is separate and distinct from its owners. It can be taxed or sued, and the 
owners, called shareholders or stockholders, are legally liable only for the amount of their 
original contributions to the corporation. Shareholders acquire ownership interests by purchas-
ing shares of stock in the corporation. Their interests give them the right to vote for its board of 
directors at annual shareholders’ meetings as well as the right to corporate profi ts, which can be 
withdrawn in the form of dividends. Both rights are based on their percent of ownership, and 
normally the board of directors decides on dividends, which are distributed on a pro-rata (per-
share) basis.

A partnership or proprietorship, on the other hand, is not a legal entity. It can neither be 
taxed nor sued, and the legal liability of the owners, called partners or proprietors, is not limited 
to their original contributions. Asset distributions to partners are called withdrawals.

The differences between corporations and partnerships are refl ected in differences in the 
equity sections of their balance sheets. The shareholders’ equity section of a corporate balance 
sheet, as illustrated on the Harbour Island balance sheet, draws a distinction between contributed 
capital, the measure of the assets directly contributed by the shareholders, and retained earnings, 
the assets generated through the company’s operating activities and not returned to shareholders 
in the form of dividends.

On the other hand, the equity section on a partnership’s balance sheet, called owners’ 
equity, makes no distinction between contributed capital and retained earnings. Instead, it con-
sists of separate accounts for each partner, showing the status of each partner’s personal capital 
balance, refl ecting all contributions less withdrawals. The chart that follows illustrates the differ-
ences between the shareholders’ equity section of a corporation and the owners’ equity section of 
a partnership with two partners. Throughout the remainder of the text, the discussion and illustra-
tions assume the corporate form of organization.

Corporation Partnership

Shareholders’ equity: Owners’ equity:

 Common stock        $20,000  Capital account, Ms. A  $12,000

 Retained earnings               14,000  Capital account, Mr. B       22,000

Total shareholders’ equity       $34,000 Total owners’ equity          $34,000

6

Discuss forms of 
business 
organizations.

LEARNING OBJECTIVE

3 Other business forms exist that have characteristics of both partnerships and corporations. Examples include subchapter 
S corporations and limited liability corporations.

? The Boeing Company and almost all major U.S. companies are corporations.
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58  CHAPTER 2 A Closer Look at the Financial Statements

R E V I E W  P R O B L E M

The following information was taken from the annual report of Bed Bath & Beyond. All dollar values are in 
thousands. Analyze each of the four fi nancial statements and assess the fi ve fundamental metrics of fi nancial 
performance.

Review

Consolidated Statements of Earnings

Bed Bath & Beyond Inc. and Subsidiaries

FISCAL YEAR ENDED

(in thousands, except per share data)

February 28, 

2015

March 1, 

2014

March 2, 

2013

Net sales $11,881,176 $11,503,963 $10,914,585

Cost of sales 7,261,397 6,938,381 6,525,830

 Gross profi t 4,619,779 4,565,582 4,388,755

Selling, general, and administrative expenses 3,065,486 2,950,995 2,750,537

 Operating profi t 1,554,293 1,614,587 1,638,218

Interest income, net 50,458 1,140 4,159

 Earnings before provision for income taxes 1,503,835 1,613,447 1,634,059

Provision for income taxes 546,361 591,157 596,271

 Net earnings $     957,474 $  1,022,290 $  1,037,788

Net earnings per share—Basic $           5.13 $           4.85 $           4.62

Net earnings per share—Diluted $           5.07 $           4.79 $           4.56

Weighted average shares outstanding—Basic 186,659 210,710 224,623

Weighted average shares outstanding—Diluted 188,880 213,363 227,723

February 28, 

2015

March 1,

2014

Assets

Current assets:

 Cash and cash equivalents $    875,574 $    366,516

 Short-term investment securities 109,992 489,331

 Merchandise inventories 2,731,881 2,578,956

 Other current assets 366,156 354,184

  Total current assets  4,083,603 3,788,987

Long-term investment securities 97,160 87,393

Property and equipment, net 1,676,700 1,579,804

Goodwill 486,279 486,279

Other assets 415,251 413,570

  Total assets $ 6,758,993 $ 6,356,033

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Current liabilities:

 Accounts payable $ 1,156,368 $ 1,104,668

 Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 403,547 385,954

Continued
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Continued

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Bed Bath & Beyond Inc. and Subsidiaries

FISCAL YEAR ENDED

(in thousands)

February 28, 

2015

March 1, 

2014

March 2, 

2013

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

 Net earnings $   957,474 $ 1,022,290 $ 1,037,788

 Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities:

  Depreciation and amortization 239,193 220,116 195,117

  Stock-based compensation 66,539 56,244 47,163

  Tax benefi t from stock-based compensation 6,686 12,846 13,217

  Deferred income taxes (22,295) 11,729 17,567

  Other (2,244) (1,784) 702

  (Increase) decrease in assets, net of effect of acquisitions:

   Merchandise inventories (161,506) (117,926) (200,197)

   Trading investment securities (9,530) (11,382) (6,206)

   Other current assets 19,012 (5,287) (43,703)

   Other assets (254) (3,812) (9,690)

  Increase (decrease) in liabilities, net of effect of acquisitions:

   Accounts payable 44,563 179,522 105,434

   Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 18,494 (1,336) (22,167)

   Merchandise credit and gift card liabilities 22,520 33,014 36,972

February 28, 

2015

March 1,

2014

 Merchandise credit and gift card liabilities 306,160 284,216

 Current income taxes payable  76,606  60,298

  Total current liabilities  1,942,681  1,835,136

Deferred rent and other liabilities 493,137 486,996

Income taxes payable  79,985  92,614

Long-term debt 1,500,000 —

 Total liabilities 4,015,803 2,414,746

Commitments and contingencies

Shareholders’ equity:

 Preferred stock—$0.01 par value; authorized—1,000 shares; no shares issued or outstanding — —

 Common stock—$0.01 per value; authorized—900,000 shares; issued 336,667 and 
  334,941 shares, respectively; outstanding 174,178 and 205,405 shares, respectively 3,367 3,350

 Additional paid-in capital 1,796,692 1,673,217

 Retained earnings 9,553,376 8,595,902

 Treasury stock, at cost (8,567,932) (6,317,335)

 Accumulated other comprehensive loss (42,313) (13,847)

  Total shareholder’s equity 2,743,190 3,941,287

  Total liabilities and shareholder’s equity $ 6,758,993 $ 6,356,033

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.sa
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(in thousands)

February 28, 

2015

March 1, 

2014

March 2, 

2013

   Income taxes payable 3,768 (4,406) 6,588

   Deferred rent and other liabilities 3,428 3,735 17,640

 Net cash provided by operating activities 1,185,848 1,393,563 1,196,225

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

 Purchase of held-to-maturity investment securities (298,094) (1,156,634) (730,976)

 Redemption of held-to-maturity investment securities 677,500 1,117,500 1,031,249

 Redemption of available-for-sale investment securities — — 31,715

 Capital expenditures (330,637) (320,812) (315,937)

 Investment in unconsolidated joint venture — (3,436) —

 Payment for acquisitions, net of cash acquired — — (643,098)

 Payment for acquisition of trademarks — — (40,000)

 Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  48,769 (363,382) (667,047)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:

 Proceeds from exercise of stock options 41,197 54,815 56,377

 Proceeds from issuance of senior unsecured notes 1,500,000 — —

 Payment of deferred fi nancing costs (10,092) — —

 Excess tax benefi t from stock-based compensation 7,202 7,289 5,021

 Payment for credit facility assumed in acquisition — — (25,511)

 Repurchase of common stock, including fees (2,250,597) (1,283,995) (1,001,280)

 Net cash used in fi nancing activities (712,290) (1,221,891) (965,393)

 Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (13,269) (6,745) (1,980)

 Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 509,058 (198,455) (438,195)

Cash and cash equivalents:

 Beginning of period 366,516 564,971 1,003,166

 End of period $     875,574 $     366,516 $     564,971

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Continued)

Bed Bath & Beyond Inc. and Subsidiaries

FISCAL YEAR ENDED

SOLUTION

Bed Bath & Beyond’s consolidated statement of earnings shows that the company was profi table in 
2013, 2014, and 2015 on consistently growing revenues (net sales). Net earnings for 2015 ($957,474) 
represents about a 6 percent drop-off from 2014, suggesting that while revenues increased from 2014 
to 2015, expenses increased by a greater amount.
 The 2015 and 2014 consolidated balance sheets indicate that the company’s investment in assets as 
of the end of these two years was $6,758,993 and $6,356,033, respectively, about 60 percent of which 
was represented by current assets, comprised primarily of merchandise inventory—not surprising for a 
retailer. The average investment in assets during 2015 was $6,557,513 [($6,758,993 + $6,356,033)�2], 
leading to a return on assets for the year of 14.6 percent ($957,474�$6,557,513).
 The balance sheets indicate that total liabilities as a percent of total assets rose from 38 percent 
($2,414,746�$6,356.033) as of the end of 2014 to over 59 percent ($4,015,803�$6,758,993) at the end 
of 2015. This big jump in the reliance on debt as a source of asset fi nancing was due primarily to the 
addition of $1,500,000 in long-term debt during 2015, which appears on both the 2015 balance sheet 
and the fi nancing section of the consolidated statement of cash fl ows.
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 The statement of cash fl ows also shows that Bed Bath & Beyond has consistently generated net cash 
from its operating activities, providing some $3.8 billion over the past three years (2015, 2014, and 2013). 
A little less than $1 billion of that cash was used to invest in capital expenditures (new stores) and acqui-
sitions of other companies over the three-year period, and during that same time period fi nancing activi-
ties used up about $2.9 billion. Interestingly, over the three-year period the company bought back over 
$4.5 billion in treasury stock, and during 2015 a large portion of the $2.25 billion repurchase of common 
stock (treasury stock purchase) was fi nanced with the $1.5 billion long-term debt (senior unsecured 
notes).
 Finally, the consolidated statement of shareholders’ equity shows that during 2015 the investment made 
in Bed Bath & Beyond by its shareholders decreased from $3,941,287 to $2,250,597. The company’s 2015 
net earnings increased this investment by $957,474 and Bed Bath & Beyond paid no dividends, but the 
$2.25 billion treasury stock purchase during the year more than made up for those increases. On average, 
the shareholder investment during 2015 was $3,342,239 [($3,941,287 + $2,743,190)�2], leading to a return 
on the shareholders’ investment (return on equity) of 28.6 percent ($957,474�$3,342,239). 

R E V I E W  O F  L E A R N I N G  O B J E C T I V E S

LO1. Describe the balance sheet in terms of equity and debt capital and producing and operating 
assets. The balance sheet is a “photo” of the fi nancial condition of a company at a specifi c point in time. It 
lists the resources available to the company, called assets, which can be managed to generate revenues and 
ultimately profi ts in the future for the shareholders. The assets are divided into two groups based on the time 
period over which they are expected to generate revenues. Operating assets are expected to generate reve-
nues within the current period, while producing assets are expected to generate revenues beyond the current 
period. The balance sheet also lists how these assets were fi nanced or paid for—by either equity or debt. The 
shareholders’ equity section refl ects investments made by the shareholders to fi nance the assets, while the 
debts (or liabilities) represent asset fi nancing provided by creditors.

LO2. Explain the concept of net income, who owns it and what they can do with it. Net income, 
which is computed on the income statement by subtracting expenses from revenues, represents the 
extent to which a company’s managers are able to sell goods and services to customers and clients for 
prices that exceed the costs of providing them. It is critical to a company’s success because it is the only 
way that managers can create value for the shareholders, who have a legal right to the net income or 
profi ts. The shareholders can choose to either leave the profi ts in the company, thereby increasing their 
investment in the company, or withdraw assets (usually cash) up to the amount of the profi ts in the form 
of dividends. For most well-known companies this choice is made by the board of directors on behalf of 
the shareholders.

LO3. Defi ne the three major activities of a business. Businesses must fi rst attract capital and then invest 
it in producing assets that can be used to produce goods and/or services sold to customers and clients. The 
three basic activities involved in conducting a business are (1) fi nancing activities, (2) investing activities, 
and (3) operating activities. Financing activities involve the collection of capital through equity or debt issu-
ances and any associated payments, such as dividends, treasury stock purchases, and debt principle pay-
ments. Investing activities involve the acquisition and sale of producing assets, which are used to produce 
and support the goods and services provided. These assets are expected to help generate revenues beyond 
the current period. Operating activities involve the sale of goods and services.

LO4. Describe the four fi nancial statements in greater detail. The asset accounts reported on the bal-
ance sheet are listed in order of liquidity and are divided into four categories: (1) current assets, which 
include cash, short-term investments, accounts receivable, inventory, and prepaid expenses; (2) long-term 
investments, which include long-term notes receivable, land, securities, the cash value of life insurance, 
and special investment funds; (3) property, plant, and equipment; and (4) intangible assets, which include 
patents, trademarks, and other intangibles, such as goodwill.
 Liabilities are divided into two categories: (1) current liabilities, which primarily include short-term 
payables; and (2) long-term liabilities, which include items such as long-term notes, bonds, and mortgages 
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